# Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee Meeting December 12, 2024

# FDA Briefing Document

Considerations for Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine Safety in Pediatric Populations

# **Table of Contents**

Glossary	4
1. Executive Summary	5
2. Unmet Need for RSV Vaccines in Infants and Toddlers	6
2.1 Clinical Manifestations and Epidemiology of RSV in Infants and Toddlers	6
2.2 Landscape of Available RSV Therapeutic and Prophylactic Interventions	8
2.2.1 Therapeutics	8
2.2.2 Prophylaxis	8
2.3 Current Unmet Medical Need in Infants and Toddlers	9
3. Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory Disease (VAERD)	9
3.1 Potential Mechanisms of VAERD	10
3.2 Theoretical Risk of VAERD in Infants Following Waning Passive Immunity	11
4. Guiding Principles for Recent Clinical Development of Pediatric RSV Vaccines	12
4.1 VRBPAC 2017 Meeting: RSV Vaccine Clinical Development in RSV-Naïve Infants	12
4.2 Safeguards to Support RSV Vaccine Development	14
4.2.1 Nonclinical Data	14
4.2.2 Clinical Data	16
5. Severe Respiratory Disease Safety Signal	18
5.1 Study Design	18
5.2 Study Findings	19
5.2.1 Identification and Management of Safety Signal	19
5.2.2 Study Enrollment and Dosing as of Study Pause	21
5.2.3 Reported RSV Severe Lower Respiratory Tract Infection Cases	21
5.2.4 Immunogenicity Results	24
5.2.5 Cases of hMPV Hospitalization	30
6. Vaccine Responses Following Nirsevimab	30
7. Considerations for Ongoing Clinical Development of Pediatric RSV Vaccines	30
8. VRBPAC Discussion Topics	31
8.1 Summary of Current State and Context for VRBPAC Discussion	31
9. References	32
10.Appendix 1	37
11.Appendix 2	39

# List of Tables

Table 1. Overview of Symptomatic RSV Cases and Clinically Significant-Severe/Very           Severe RSV LRTIs, Study mRNA-1365-P101	22
Table 2. Part B Cohorts 3 and 4 Cases of Clinically Significant-Severe/Very Severe RSV         LRTI*, Study mRNA-1365-P101	23
Table 3. RSV A and RSV B Neutralizing Antibody (nAb) Responses at Day 85, 8 Months –24 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101, Part A Cohorts 1 and 2	24
Table 4. PreF and PostF bAb Responses, 8 Months – 24 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101, Part A Cohorts 1 and 2	24
Table 5. RSV A and RSV B Neutralizing Antibody (nAb) Responses Based on RSV Infection Classification, 5 Months – <8 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101, Part B Cohorts 3 and 4	26
Table 6. PreF and PostF bAb Responses Based on RSV Infection Classification, Part B Cohorts 3 and 4, 5 Months – <8 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101, Part B Cohorts 3 and 4	28
Table 7. RSV A and RSV B Neutralizing Antibody (nAb) Responses to mRNA-1345 in Nirsevimab-Exposed and Nirsevimab-Unexposed Participants 8 Months – 12 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101 Part C	30
Table 8. Case Definitions	39

# Glossary

AAP ACIP AE bAb BCAT BPD CFR CHD CFR CHD CI CS DSMB DMC ERD FDA FI-RSV GA hMPV H&E ICU IND IRB IRPS LLOQ LRTD LRTI mAb mRNA nAb PCR preF postF RNA RSV RSV-LRTD RT-PCR sLRTD sLRTI-RSV	American Academy of Pediatrics Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices adverse event binding antibody Blinded Clinical Assessment Team bronchopulmonary dysplasia Code of Federal Regulations congenital heart disease confidence interval clinically significant Data Safety Monitoring Board Data Monitoring Committee enhanced respiratory disease U.S. Food and Drug Administration formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus gestational age human metapneuomovirus hematoxylin and eosin intensive care unit investigational new drug application Institutional Review Board infectious respiratory particles lower limit of quantification lower respiratory tract disease lower respiratory tract infection monoclonal antibody messenger ribonucleic acid neutralizing antibody polymerase chain reaction prefusion F protein ribonucleic acid respiratory syncytial virus RSV-associated lower respiratory tract disease reverse RSV-associated lower respiratory tract disease severe RSV-associated lower respiratory tract disease
sLRTD	severe RSV-associated lower respiratory tract disease
U.S.	United States
U.K. VAERD	United Kingdom vaccine-associated enhanced respiratory disease
VE VRBPAC	vaccine efficacy Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee
WHO	World Health Organization

## 1. Executive Summary

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is ubiquitous, causing infection and disease throughout the world, with significant morbidity and mortality in young children, especially infants. The global burden of RSV disease in children under 5 years of age is high, with estimates of approximately 3 million hospitalizations and ~50,000-100,000 deaths per year (Mazur, 2024). Nearly 100% of children have been infected with RSV by two years of age, and in the United States (U.S.) it is the leading cause of hospitalization in infants (Suh, 2022). RSV disease can manifest with a range of symptoms, including upper respiratory disease that can progress to lower respiratory tract disease (LRTD), leading to respiratory distress, respiratory failure, and death. Treatment options for RSV disease are limited and management of affected patients is largely supportive. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) with activity against RSV are a critical element of a preventive strategy in infants; however, availability and cost may limit global implementation. While recent advancements in vaccine technologies have facilitated development of RSV vaccines, including U.S. licensure of three vaccines in the past 2 years, the indicated populations are currently limited to individuals 18 years of age and older for the prevention of LRTD, and pregnant individuals at 32 through 36 weeks gestational age for the prevention of LRTD and severe LRTD (sLRTD) caused by RSV in infants from birth through 6 months of age. Therefore, there are no available RSV vaccines for active immunization in children.

Pediatric RSV vaccine development was stalled following the observation of vaccine-associated enhanced respiratory disease (VAERD), including two toddler deaths, following administration of formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus (FI-RSV) vaccines to infants in the 1960s (Fulginiti, 1969; Kapikian, 1969; Kim, 1969). Over the ensuing years, nonclinical research elucidated putative immunopathologic mechanisms thought to drive VAERD. Animal studies suggested that inadequate neutralizing antibody (nAb) responses, low-avidity antibody responses, bias toward Th2-dominant immune responses, and pulmonary immune complex deposition with complement activation may all contribute to an exuberant inflammatory response to wild-type RSV infection. Additionally, a discovery that presentation of RSV fusion (F) glycoprotein antigen in a pre-fusion (preF) conformation elicited nAb titers similar to those elicited by natural RSV infection suggested that vaccine candidates with stabilized preF antigenic components may be less likely to result in nonfunctional antibody responses that may predispose recipients to VAERD.

As development of RSV vaccine technology progressed, the recognition that candidates would soon be ready for evaluation in infants and children prompted the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to convene the Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee (VRBPAC) in 2017 to discuss considerations for evaluation of RSV vaccine candidates in seronegative infants. VRBPAC discussed nonclinical and clinical data that contributed most directly to our understanding of the key features of RSV VAERD, with the notion that some or all these features could be used, prior to initiating clinical trials in RSV-naïve infants, in evaluating and characterizing RSV vaccine candidates compared with the FI-RSV vaccine to mitigate the risk of VAERD. In the context of the VRBPAC discussions, a more comprehensive understanding of the potential immunopathogenesis of VAERD, and advances in vaccine technology, a cautious approach was undertaken to reinstate evaluation of RSV vaccines in infants and toddlers. Risk mitigation strategies include rational design of vaccine candidates; nonclinical studies to ensure generation of adequate nAb responses, lack of Th2biased immune responses, and lack of VAERD-like lung histopathology upon post-vaccination RSV challenge; and clinical study guardrails to ensure adequate safety monitoring and study stopping criteria, as well as age de-escalation study designs that assess immune responses in RSV-experienced older children prior to progressing to evaluation in infants and toddlers.

Using this cautious approach to pediatric studies of RSV vaccines, clinical development programs for two messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) vaccines, each containing an mRNA sequence which encodes the RSV F glycoprotein stabilized in the preF conformation, progressed to evaluations in young children and then infants only after: (1) data from nonclinical studies conducted in BALB/c mice and cotton rats, including cotton rat challenge models for RSV, were consistent with a general absence of immunological or pathological features associated with VAERD after RSV challenge; and (2) safety and immunogenicity data from ongoing studies in adults and RSV-seropositive children 12 months through 59 months of age supported progression to studies in younger cohorts. During the study, an imbalance in severe RSV cases was identified, based on a pre-specified study stopping criterion, among participants 5 months through <8 months of age who received the lower mRNA vaccine dose. In Cohorts 3 and 4, five (5) cases (12.5% of participants) of clinically significant (CS) severe/very severe RSV were identified in the vaccine groups (all of whom had received 1 or 2 doses of a 3-dose schedule), compared with one (1) case (5% of participants) in the placebo group. The percentage of participants with symptomatic RSV disease in Cohorts 3 and 4 who progressed to severe illness was 26.3% in the vaccine groups compared with 8.3% in the placebo group.

In a separate part of the study, the immune responses to vaccination in participants who had received the RSV mAb nirsevimab  $\geq$  6 months prior to vaccination appeared blunted when compared with participants who had not received nirsevimab.

We are convening VRBPAC to discuss considerations for RSV vaccine safety in pediatric populations (see <u>Section 8</u>) based on data from a pediatric RSV vaccine clinical development program evaluating mRNA vaccines (see <u>Section 5</u> and <u>Section 6</u>), including the implications of the potential safety findings on ongoing and future development of other RSV vaccines in pediatric populations and of the potential RSV mAb – RSV vaccine interaction observed.

# 2. Unmet Need for RSV Vaccines in Infants and Toddlers

RSV is a highly contagious human pathogen that causes respiratory tract illness in individuals of all age groups worldwide. Transmitted as infectious respiratory particles (IRPs) by direct deposition, RSV replicates exclusively in the respiratory epithelium. The severity of RSV disease may range from mild upper respiratory illness to life-threatening bronchiolitis and pneumonia.

RSV is an enveloped, single-stranded, negative-sense ribonucleic acid (RNA) virus that is a *Orthopneumovirus hominis* species within the Pneumoviridae family. RSV strains are grouped within a single serotype but are separated into 2 major phylogenetic lineages (subtypes RSV-A and RSV-B) originally determined by cross neutralization studies and confirmed by antigenic differences in the RSV glycoprotein G (<u>Cane, 2001</u>; <u>Johnson, et al., 1987</u>; <u>Sullender, 2000</u>). Sequences within the N-terminal 270 nucleotides of the RSV glycoprotein G gene differentiate RSV-A and RSV-B subtypes. Both subtypes tend to co-circulate during seasonal outbreaks; however, the dominant RSV subtype varies during local annual outbreaks and is unpredictable.

# 2.1 Clinical Manifestations and Epidemiology of RSV in Infants and Toddlers

Symptomatic RSV infections and re-infections can manifest as acute upper and/or lower respiratory tract infections (LRTIs). RSV can cause symptoms similar to those caused by many other viral and bacterial respiratory pathogens. When clinically necessary, RSV infection can be confirmed by laboratory testing, such as reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) or antigen tests. Children may initially present with upper respiratory tract symptoms, including rhinorrhea, pharyngitis, cough, headache, fatigue, and fever. With the first infection,

approximately 20% to 30% of infants will progress to develop LRTD, including bronchiolitis and/or pneumonia, characterized by wheezing and/or crackles on auscultation and varying degrees of respiratory distress. In very young infants, apnea may be the only presenting symptom. Prematurity, heart disease, immunodeficiency, neuromuscular disease, and other chronic diseases increase the risk of RSV-associated hospitalization.

The risk of RSV infection is age-dependent, with virtually all children infected at least once by 3 years of age, although there may be epidemiologic and regional differences that affect pediatric seroprevalence (<u>Nakajo, et al., 2023</u>; <u>Berbers, et al., 2021</u>; <u>Nyiro, et al., 2017</u>). In a recent cohort study, 53% of U.S. children were infected with RSV by 1 year of age, as measured by active surveillance for infection and serologic testing (<u>Cacho, et al, 2024</u>).

RSV infection does not confer long lasting immunity and reinfections occur throughout an individual's lifespan. The durability of naturally acquired immunity after RSV infection is also not well understood. Studies of immune response after RSV infection indicate an initial rise in serum antibody levels, with a return to baseline by 16 months to 20 months post-infection (<u>Falsey, et al, 2006</u>). High rates of reinfection and short durability of protection after infection were observed in an RSV human challenge study in young adults (<u>Hall, et al., 1991</u>).

Significant morbidity and mortality are attributable to pediatric RSV disease, although the incidence and associated mortality can vary from year to year (Mazur, et al., 2024; Shi, et al., 2017). In an assessment of data from 2010, RSV was estimated to be second only to malaria as the leading cause of pediatric death due to a specific pathogen (Lozano, et al., 2013). Worldwide, it has been estimated that children under 5 years of age experience approximately 33 million episodes of RSV-associated LRTD (RSV-LRTD), including 3 million hospitalizations and ~50,000-100,000 deaths per year, with a high burden of disease severity observed in children younger than 6 months (Mazur, et al., 2024). In a recent meta-analysis, the authors estimated that over 45,000 RSV-attributable deaths are in children younger than 6 months of age, accounting for 3.6% of all deaths in children 28 days to 6 months of age (Li, et al., 2022). More than 90% of the observed mortality due to RSV is reported in low- and middle-income countries (Munro, et al., 2023; Li, et al., 2022). While in-hospital mortality in low- and middle-income 2012), the decrease in high-income countries has been more modest (0.11 vs. 0.08%) (Munro, et al., 2023).

RSV disease is a substantial medical and economic burden in the U.S. Among children under 5 years of age, RSV is associated with an estimated 100-300 deaths, 58,000-80,000 hospitalizations, ~520,000 emergency department visits, and ~2,100,000 outpatient visits each year (CDC, 2023; CDC, 2024c; McLaughlin, et al., 2022; AAP, 2024). RSV is the most common cause of hospitalization in U.S. infants (~1-3% of children 12 months of age and younger), accounting for ~9% of all hospitalizations in this age group between 2009-2019 (Suh, 2022). In a recent systematic literature review of the cost of RSV infection in children under 5 years of age, hospitalization was found to represent two-thirds of RSV treatment costs. The annual cost of RSV treatment of infants in the U.S. is \$709.6 million (adjusted to 2020 U.S. dollars)-an average cost of \$187 per birth in the U.S. Adjusted to 2020 U.S. dollars, mean inpatient hospitalization costs per episode (all-payers) were ~\$12,000. Outpatient care for RSV (outpatient clinics, emergency, and urgent care departments) also represents a significant economic burden, with a calculated weighted mean RSV-associated cost per year of \$1446 (95% CI, \$1354-\$1538) (Bowser, et al., 2022). A recently published model projected the expected annual clinical and economic burden of medically attended RSV-LRTD in U.S. children less than 12 months of age to be an estimated \$1.6 billion (Houde, et al., 2024).

#### 2.2 Landscape of Available RSV Therapeutic and Prophylactic Interventions

#### 2.2.1 Therapeutics

<u>Aerosolized ribavirin</u> is the only drug or biologic product approved for the treatment of RSV disease. Aerosolized ribavirin is indicated for the treatment of hospitalized infants with severe LRTIs (sLRTI) due to RSV; however, use of aerosolized ribavirin is limited due to administration challenges in conjunction with a ventilator and its teratogenic effects, including risk of environmental spread. In addition, the <u>package insert</u> for this formulation includes a boxed warning about possible accumulation of drug precipitate resulting in mechanical ventilator dysfunction, increased pulmonary pressures, and a risk for sudden respiratory decompensation.

#### 2.2.2 Prophylaxis

#### 2.2.2.1 Monoclonal Antibodies

<u>Nirsevimab (Beyfortus)</u> is approved by FDA for the prevention of RSV LRTD in neonates and infants born during or entering their first RSV season, and in children up to 24 months of age who remain vulnerable to severe RSV disease in their second RSV season. (<u>Sanofi/AstraZeneca 2023</u>). Nirsevimab is a recombinant neutralizing human immunoglobulin G1 kappa monoclonal antibody directed against the prefusion conformation of the RSV fusion (F) protein.

<u>Palivizumab (Synagis)</u> is approved by FDA for the prevention of serious RSV lower respiratory disease in high-risk infants (<u>Medimmune 1998</u>). This indication was supported by trials in premature infants born at <35 weeks of gestation, infants with chronic lung disease of prematurity, and infants with hemodynamically significant congenital heart disease. Palivizumab, like nirsevimab, is a recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody directed against a conserved epitope on the RSV fusion (F) protein. Because palivizumab is not modified to extend its serum half-life, a monthly intramuscular injection is required. The first dose of palivizumab is administered prior to the start of the RSV season and remaining four doses are administered monthly during the RSV season.

#### 2.2.2.2 Vaccines

#### Individuals 17 years of age and younger

No U.S.-licensed RSV vaccines are currently approved, including for infants and young children.

#### Individuals 18 years of age and older

Three vaccines are licensed in the U.S. for the prevention of LRTD caused by RSV: <u>Arexvy</u> (GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals), <u>Abrysvo</u> (Pfizer, Inc.), and <u>mResvia</u> (Moderna). These vaccines were originally approved by FDA on May 3, 2023, May 31, 2023, and June 14, 2024, respectively. The following indications are approved:

- <u>Abrysvo</u> for active immunization for the prevention of LRTD caused by RSV in:
  - individuals 60 years of age and older; and
  - individuals 18 through 59 years of age who are at increased risk for LRTD caused by RSV
- <u>Arexvy</u> for active immunization for the prevention of LRTD caused by RSV in:
  - individuals 60 years of age and older; and

- individuals 50 through 59 years of age who are at increased risk for LRTD caused by RSV
- mResvia for active immunization for the prevention of LRTD caused by RSV in:
  - individuals 60 years of age and older

#### Pregnant individuals at 32 through 36 weeks gestational age

Although not licensed for use in children, Abrysvo was approved on August 21, 2023, for active immunization of pregnant individuals at 32 through 36 weeks gestational age (GA) for the prevention of LRTD and sLRTD caused by RSV in infants from birth through 6 months of age. On September 22, 2023, the ACIP recommended Abrysvo for pregnant persons at 32-36 weeks GA using seasonal administration (meaning September-January in most of the U.S.) to prevent RSV-LRTD in infants <6 months of age (<u>CDC, 2024a</u>).

### 2.3 Current Unmet Medical Need in Infants and Toddlers

Over the past several years, the landscape of available RSV preventive interventions in infants has expanded to include both long-acting RSV mAb (i.e., nirsevimab) and maternal immunization (i.e., Abrysvo). While uptake of nirsevimab and maternal vaccination with Abrysvo has started in high-income countries, lack of availability and cost has hindered widespread implementation where the burden of severe RSV disease is highest, i.e., lowand middle-income countries (Perez Casas, et al., 2024; Zar, et al., 2024). The value profile for RSV vaccines for active immunization in infants and children in low- and middle-income countries remains to be determined (Fleming, et al., 2023). Also, the available options are limited to passive immunization, which may not offer some of the potential benefits of active immunization. For example, active immunization could lead to immune priming that could significantly contribute to the prevention of sLRTD during future RSV seasons. Active immunization would allow for vaccination of children following their first RSV season. Active immunization would also provide an option for children born to individuals who were previously vaccinated during an earlier pregnancy, since maternal vaccination is currently not indicated during second or subsequent pregnancies. Additionally, it is important to note that the potential adverse impacts of passive immunization on the effectiveness of subsequent active immunization in infants and toddlers is yet to be determined.

These and other considerations may be important for RSV vaccine benefit-risk assessments and indications for use in populations where both passive and active immunization are recommended for use in infants and toddlers.

# 3. Vaccine-Associated Enhanced Respiratory Disease (VAERD)

As evidenced by the recent approval of three RSV vaccines for adults, there has been significant progress in the field of RSV vaccine development. However, due to observed events of VAERD following RSV vaccination in infants, the approach to pediatric development of RSV vaccines has proceeded with a high degree of caution, and was largely limited to live, attenuated vaccine candidates, which are thought unlikely to be associated with VAERD.

In the mid-1960s, multiple published reports described an association between FI-RSV vaccines and VAERD (Fulginiti, 1969; Kapikian, 1969; Kim, 1969). In one study of a FI-RSV vaccine in infants, 80% of vaccine recipients required hospitalization for severe RSV-LRTD upon natural RSV infection, including two children who died at the ages of 14 months and 16 months of age; in comparison, no deaths occurred and 5% of participants required hospitalization in the control group (Kim, et al., 1969).

### 3.1 Potential Mechanisms of VAERD

The mechanisms responsible for FI-RSV VAERD are still not fully understood; however, immune responses considered to contribute to the immunopathogenesis of VAERD (<u>Chin, et al., 1969</u>; <u>Kapikian, et al., 1969</u>; <u>Fulginiti, et al., 1969</u>; <u>Polack, et al., 2002</u>) include:

- low avidity or inadequate nAb responses;
- Th2-biased immune responses; and
- pulmonary immune complex depositions.

#### RSV neutralizing antibody (nAb) responses

Several factors related to antibody responses likely contribute to VAERD, including induction of low-avidity anti-RSV antibodies with poor neutralizing and fusion-inhibiting activity. Data from RSV-naïve infants given FI-RSV demonstrated that, although the total anti-RSV-F binding antibody (bAb) ratios were high, neutralizing and fusion-inhibiting activity was low when compared with antibodies elicited by natural RSV infection (Browne, et al., 2019; Murphy, et al., 1988). Additionally, studies in mice suggested that lack of affinity maturation due to deficient toll-like receptor activation in B cells may also contribute to the risk of VAERD (Delgado, et al., 2009).

#### RSV antigen conformation

The respiratory RSV fusion (F) glycoprotein is a membrane protein that is required for viral entry into host cells, is conserved across RSV-A and RSV-B strains, and is the antigenic focus of most neutralizing antibodies in human sera (<u>Orenstein, et al, 2022</u>). A discovery that there are both preF and post-fusion (postF) conformations of the F glycoprotein led to research that demonstrated that infectious RSV presents both the preF and postF conformation. Together with animal data that demonstrated that stabilized preF elicited nAb titers similar to those elicited by natural RSV infection, these findings suggested that vaccines with stabilized preF antigenic components may be less likely to elicit nonfunctional antibody responses that predispose recipients to VAERD (<u>Killikelly, et al., 2016</u>).

#### Th2-biased RSV immune responses

Multiple studies have demonstrated the role of Th2 immune responses in mediating VAERD. Immunization of mice with FI-RSV resulted in robust Th2 immune responses, with evidence of CD4+ T cells in the lungs following RSV challenge. In mouse models, Th2-associated cytokines and TNF- $\alpha$  production by Th1 cells were found to mediate VAERD (Knudson, et al., 2015). Experiments to assess the role of the Th2 immune response in VAERD demonstrated that depletion of both IL-4 and IL-10 prevented inflammatory cell infiltration around the bronchioles of FI-RSV-immunized mice (Connors, et al., 1994). Additional studies have implicated other Th2 cytokines in the development of VAERD, including IL-5 and IL-13 (Acosta, et al., 2016; De Swart, et al., 2022).

#### Pulmonary immune complex deposition

Pulmonary deposition of immune complexes with associated complement activation has been hypothesized to play an important role in VAERD, in which vaccine-induced antibodies with poor neutralizing activity lead to immune complex deposition and complement activation in airways due to large amounts of antigen during RSV infection (<u>Polack et al., 2002</u>). In a study by <u>Polack, et al., 2002</u>, lungs of mice immunized with FI-RSV and challenged with RSV were examined using hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and showed "a patchy mononuclear cell infiltration of the alveolar walls and a peribronchiolar and

perivascular lymphomonocytic infiltration with a moderate number of interspersed neutrophils and eosinophils." Lungs of placebo recipients and mice immunized with live RSV contained fewer mononuclear cells after RSV challenge. To confirm the role of complement in the pathophysiology of VAERD, C3-deficient and wild-type mice were immunized with FI-RSV and then challenged with RSV infection. Both groups developed similar alveolar, peribronchiolar, and perivascular mononuclear cellular infiltration with neutrophils. While the histopathology findings for both groups were similar, differences were noted between the two groups on pulmonary function studies. FI-RSV-immunized, RSV-challenged wild-type mice had a significant increase in airway hyperresponsiveness as compared with C3deficient mice, which demonstrated that complement is critical for bronchoconstriction in VAERD. Additionally, an antibody against C4d (which is a sensitive marker of complement activation mediated by immune complexes using the classical pathway) was used to stain lung sections obtained from the two children who died of VAERD, consistent with a role for immune complexes in VAERD in children immunized with FI-RSV.

#### 3.2 Theoretical Risk of VAERD in Infants Following Waning Passive Immunity

Multiple studies have been conducted to confirm that passive immunity acquired through maternal antibodies or monoclonal antibodies are not associated with enhanced respiratory disease (ERD) upon subsequent exposure to RSV. In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study evaluating safety and immunogenicity of the RSV purified fusion protein-2 (PFP-2) vaccine in 35 healthy women in the third trimester of pregnancy and their infants, there was no increase in the frequency of morbidity associated with respiratory tract illnesses in infants of vaccine recipients, and there was no evidence of enhanced T-cell or cytokine activity in infants of vaccine recipients compared with infants of placebo recipients (Munoz, et al., 2003). Two immunization and challenge studies in animals (mice and rats) demonstrated that passive transfer of antibodies to naïve pups through maternal vaccination with FI-RSV prior to challenge did not result in ERD upon subsequent live RSV challenge (Blanco, et al., 2017; Kwon, et al., 2014).

Approximately 7,000 infants born to pregnant individuals in the Phase 3 study (NCT04424316) of Abrysvo were followed for severe RSV disease for a median of 9 months after birth. A protective effect against severe RSV disease and no evidence of ERD was observed among infants born to individuals who received RSV vaccine during pregnancy (Kampmann, et al., 2023). Postmarketing surveillance of Abrysvo has not revealed a signal for ERD among vaccine recipients or their infants, although these data are limited by passive reporting and the lack of a direct comparator group.

Palivizumab was approved over 20 years ago, and no evidence of a risk of ERD has been identified. To assess the risk of ERD with nirsevimab, children from the Phase 3 efficacy trial in infants born at ≥35 weeks GA were followed through their second RSV season. The incidence and severity of medically attended RSV-LRTD was comparable between the nirsevimab and placebo groups. There was no evidence of antibody-dependent enhancement of infection or disease severity (Dagan, et al., 2024).

#### Risk of VAERD in adults

In general, RSV-experienced children and adults have been considered at low risk for VAERD, due to immunological priming by prior naturally acquired RSV infection (<u>Acosta, et al., 2016</u>).

Extensive clinical experience to date with the currently licensed RSV vaccines (Abrysvo, Arexvy, and mResvia) have yielded no evidence of VAERD after vaccination in adult

populations, including in individuals with immunocompromising conditions and pregnant individuals. In the pre-licensure efficacy studies of these vaccines in individuals 60 years of age and older, based on study sizes of approximately 25,000-35,000 participants, the case split in severe RSV disease between the vaccine and placebo groups suggested vaccine effectiveness against severe RSV disease and did not suggest a signal for VAERD. Postmarketing surveillance of these vaccines also has not revealed a signal for VAERD among vaccine recipients, although these data are limited by passive reporting and the lack of a direct comparator group.

#### 4. Guiding Principles for Recent Clinical Development of Pediatric RSV Vaccines

As RSV vaccine technology advanced and improved understanding of the immunopathogenesis of VAERD derived from animal models emerged, development of new candidate vaccines was stimulated, which engendered discussions among RSV experts about the safety data needed to advance these products into initial clinical development, and ultimately, into the target population of RSV-naïve infants. The recognition that multiple products would soon be ready for evaluation in infants and children prompted FDA to convene VRBPAC in 2017 to discuss considerations for evaluation of RSV vaccine candidates in seronegative infants.

#### 4.1 VRBPAC 2017 Meeting: RSV Vaccine Clinical Development in RSV-Naïve Infants

On May 17, 2017, VRBPAC convened to discuss the data needed to support clinical trials of RSV vaccine candidates in RSV-naïve infants, with a particular focus on mitigating the risk of VAERD (<u>Browne, 2020</u>).

VRBPAC reviewed the following:

- 1. Clinical information immediately available from and subsequently identified following evaluation of FI-RSV vaccine recipients in trials conducted in the 1960s;
- 2. Factors proposed from decades of research in many laboratories that are thought to contribute to VAERD immunopathogenesis;
- 3. Utility and limitations of various animal models of RSV to further our understanding of disease pathogenesis and to assess the safety of RSV vaccine candidates; and
- 4. Overall need for nonclinical data to support evaluation of RSV vaccine candidates in RSV-naïve infants.

#### Overview

VRBPAC discussed nonclinical and clinical data that contributed most directly to our understanding of the key features of RSV VAERD, with the notion that some or all these features could be used, prior to initiating clinical trials in RSV-naïve infants, in evaluating and characterizing RSV vaccine candidates compared with the FI-RSV vaccine to mitigate the risk of VAERD.

Biological features of RSV vaccine candidates thought to mitigate the risk of VAERD included:

- eliciting high avidity neutralizing antibodies to RSV prefusion F protein;
- avoiding induction of exaggerated Th2 CD4+ T-cell responses;
- cytoplasmic antigen processing [i.e., avoid vaccine candidates that could result in poor or absent priming of CD8+ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) needed to facilitate clearance of virusinfected cells; however, it remains unclear if CTLs mitigate the risk of VAERD; and

• avoiding induction of antibodies that result in immune complex deposition and complement activation in the lungs during an RSV infection.

VRBPAC members generally agreed that nonclinical data should be derived from at least two well-established animal models that adequately evaluate the parameters associated with VAERD and demonstrate consistent findings that an RSV vaccine candidate has an immune phenotype readily distinguishable from that of a FI-RSV vaccine.

#### RSV-experienced children and infants

VRBPAC members generally agreed that although other aspects of vaccine safety may be evaluable in RSV-experienced children including toddlers, the risk of VAERD is minimal, due to immunological priming by prior naturally acquired RSV infection(s) and to their more developed immune systems compared with infants. Longitudinal data showed substantial changes in individuals' immune responses over time, particularly during the first 6 months of life. Some data suggested that the immune system in early infancy (e.g., less than 6 months to 12 months of age) is prone to an imprinting phenomenon, wherein exposure to antigens can predispose to a Th2-predominant response even when re-exposure occurs months later after the immune system has matured. Thus, while RSV-experienced infants may not inform the risk of VAERD for RSV-naïve infants, clinical evaluation in RSV-experienced children could still provide important information about vaccine reactogenicity.

VRBPAC discussed the possibility that due to persistence of maternal antibody in the infant, some RSV-naïve infants enrolled in clinical trials would meet a seropositivity cutoff (i.e., the accepted practical strategy for identifying those who have had prior RSV infection) and be placed at unanticipated risk for VAERD due to misclassification as RSV-experienced. However, it was expected that by 6 months of age and thereafter, a positive RSV titer would most likely reflect prior natural infection and after 12 months of age it would be nearly indisputable, given the kinetics of maternal antibody in infants (Waaijenborg et al., 2013; Ochola et al., 2009).

#### Initial studies in seronegative infants

Given the history FI-RSV-vaccinated infants subsequently experiencing VAERD, the development of a vaccine for prevention of RSV disease in RSV-naïve infants must be undertaken with an abundance of caution. In addition to developing nonclinical data to support safety in the seronegative population, risk mitigation could include appropriate features in trial design. For example, the selected sample size should expose the fewest infants (recognizing that the whole study cohort might already be immunized by the time potential cases of VAERD are observed) while generating sufficient safety data to support a larger Phase 3 trial. Similarly, it could be important to explore how VAERD will be identified, as VAERD likely will not be clinically discernable from severe RSV disease, which also occurs intermittently in unvaccinated infants. To address the potential similarity in clinical presentation, VAERD could be evaluated by estimating a relative risk of severe RSV disease between vaccine recipients versus controls, assuming a background rate of hospitalization for severe RSV disease in the range of 3-5%. It would also be important to evaluate duration of protection since it may be necessary to follow young children through more than one RSV season (or until naturally acquired RSV infection has occurred) to evaluate the impact of waning immunity on the risk of VAERD. Ultimately, it was anticipated that answers to these questions would be product specific, and would also depend on the supporting nonclinical data, the mechanism of activity of the specific RSV vaccine candidate, and the magnitude of the antibody response seen. The consensus among VRBPAC members was that although studies in adults and RSVexperienced infants would not necessarily predict subsequent risk of VAERD for an RSV-

naïve infant population, immunogenicity (i.e., cellular and humoral responses) and safety data from these populations could be supportive of evaluation of RSV vaccine candidates in RSVnaïve infants. To ensure the safety of RSV-naïve infants in studies, VRBPAC also recommended that close and continuous monitoring be required and that eligibility criteria include healthy infants without underlying medical conditions with considerations for gestational age.

#### 4.2 Safeguards to Support RSV Vaccine Development

Based on the history of FI-RSV VAERD (see <u>Section 2.3</u>) and following the May 17, 2017, VRBPAC meeting regarding the data needed to support evaluation of RSV vaccine candidates in RSV-naïve infants (see <u>Section 3.1</u>), a cautious approach across candidate pediatric RSV vaccine programs has been taken to mitigate the risk of VAERD in the at-risk population of RSV-naïve infants. The approach to pediatric RSV vaccine development incorporates (1) nonclinical assessments to assess for the potential risk of VAERD based on the nature of immune responses elicited by the vaccine and challenge studies of vaccinated animals and (2) clinical trial risk mitigation and management strategies that span the vaccine development lifecycle.

Globally, several manufacturers have pursued RSV vaccine candidates for use in pediatric populations (infants/children) with platforms that include live-attenuated RSV, live-attenuated chimeric respiratory viral, other viral vectored, mRNA, and recombinant particle/subunit vaccines (<u>PATH, 2024</u>). Under U.S. investigational new drug application (IND), there are approximately 42 RSV vaccine candidates at various stages of development, ranging from early preclinical studies to pivotal Phase 3 trials. Of these candidate vaccines, 26 (15 live-attenuated vaccine technologies and 11 other vaccine technologies) include a pediatric clinical development program. The 11 other vaccine technologies include RSV F glycoprotein antigen stabilized in the preF conformation state, expressed as recombinant protein or encoded by mRNA.

# 4.2.1 Nonclinical Data

Prior to testing RSV vaccine candidates in humans, results of nonclinical testing in relevant animal models are reviewed by FDA to support the safety and potential efficacy of the investigational vaccine. While no animal model exactly replicates RSV disease in humans, nonclinical studies provide essential preliminary data to support advancement of an investigational vaccine to clinical trials. Nevertheless, the mechanisms of VAERD in humans are not fully understood. As such, animal studies and other preclinical data have limitations in reliably predicting the risk of VAERD in RSV-naïve children.

Nonclinical testing of vaccines includes *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies used to characterize properties related to safety and immunogenicity. This testing can include toxicology studies to assess potential toxicities (due to active ingredients, excipients, or impurities) and pharmacology testing to assess safety and biological phenotype of vaccine candidates including studies to determine vaccine immunogenicity and ability to elicit protective immunity against a live challenge. General guidance on nonclinical testing of vaccines is provided by the World Health Organization (WHO) and is not discussed further here (<u>WHO</u>, <u>2005; EMA, 2010</u>).

The following sections will focus on the approach to nonclinical testing of RSV vaccine candidates prior to clinical trials in RSV-naïve infants, i.e., those who are at greatest risk for developing VAERD.

## 4.2.1.1 Nonclinical Testing and In Vitro Studies

It was previously demonstrated that the process used to manufacture FI-RSV vaccine resulted in denaturation of critical epitopes on the RSV prefusion protein and loss of epitopes on the prefusion trimer that are crucial needed to inducing potent nAb responses (Killikelly, et al., 2016). Accordingly, RSV vaccine candidates based on RSV F antigens are required to show that prefusion epitopes critical to eliciting a strong nAb response are present on the antigen in the Final Container or the expressed antigen following in vitro and/or in vivo translation of the vaccine construct using binding of preF specific antibodies/monoclonal antibodies. While vaccines containing or expressing RSV-prefusion F antigen may be preferred over vaccine expressing RSV F in the postF conformation, these products still need to be evaluated using the parameters described below under in vivo testing since there are concerns that even preF protein may increase the risk of VAERD among RSV-naïve infants (Schneider-Ohrum, et al., 2017).

#### 4.2.1.2 WHO 2020 Guideline on the Quality, Safety, and Efficacy of RSV Vaccines

WHO assembled RSV experts, vaccine manufacturers and regulatory authorities from around the world to discuss and formally outline the current thinking and approaches for use of nonclinical and clinical testing of RSV vaccine candidates during 2016 through 2019. The <u>WHO Guideline</u> on the quality, safety, and efficacy of RSV vaccines is attached to this briefing document for reference.

While the contents of the WHO document have many similarities with the information and advice provided during the 2017 VRBPAC meeting, the WHO Guideline also (1) describes the need for nonclinical testing by vaccine platform; (2) redefines the four basic immune properties of RSV vaccine candidates that need to be assessed in nonclinical testing prior to advancing clinical trials into RSV-naïve infants and reaffirms supplemental data that may prove helpful; and (3) considers the imperfections of all animals models for reproducing RSV human disease and VAERD while summarizing the rationale and benefits for a few selected animal models frequently used for comparative testing along with noting specific limitations of each.

# 4.2.1.2.1 Nonclinical Testing by Vaccine Technology

The WHO review committee noted live-attenuated RSV strains, including those strains attenuated by gene deletion and or codon deoptimization, need not be tested for VAERD prior to testing in RSV-naïve infants (Belshe, et al., 1982; Wright, et al., 2007). Nonclinical testing for attenuation phenotype along with Phase 1 testing in healthy adults and RSV-seropositive older children should provide sufficient evidence of safety of live-attenuated RSV vaccine candidates prior to testing in RSV-naïve infants. (A description of the nonclinical testing needed to confirm attenuation phenotype is beyond the scope of this document; please see the WHO Guideline, Section 8.2 for information pertaining to product characterization for live-attenuated RSV strains.) In contrast, the ability of all other RSV vaccine candidates, based on other vaccine technologies, to prime for VAERD is currently unknown. Accordingly, WHO recommends that all other vaccine technologies (including subunit and particle-based protein vaccines, viral-vectored vaccines, and mRNA vaccines), irrespective of route of administration, should be tested as outlined below to determine their immune phenotype relative to FI-RSV vaccine prior to evaluation in RSV-naïve infants.

# 4.2.1.2.2 Immune Properties Assessed During Nonclinical Testing

WHO guidance recommends that vaccine candidates will be evaluated using one or more animal models in well-controlled and designed studies to assess the following four properties:

- 1. ability to induce anti-RSV nAb responses;
- 2. avoid induction of non-nAbs and have a relatively low anti-RSV-F IgG binding to nAb ratio;
- 3. avoid induction of strong Th2-type CD4+ T-cell responses (e.g., IL-4, IL-5 and IL-3 and/or mucus production); and
- 4. should not provoke alveolitis after a valid, live RSV challenge.

A valid challenge test must include a group of animals immunized with the vaccine candidate with evidence of vaccine take (e.g., a positive serology test post-immunization in animals sero-naïve prior to challenge) with a high proportion of animals in the same group having evidence of virus replication in the lungs after challenge.

#### 4.2.1.2.3 Animal Models

The WHO Guideline notes that all animal models have some limitations as they do not accurately mimic all aspects of human RSV disease or VAERD. The WHO Guideline does not state a preference for any one animal model over another. However, Part B of the document briefly notes the use of four common animal models (i.e., mice, cotton rats, non-human primates, and calves) that have significantly advanced our knowledge on RSV disease pathogenesis and VAERD. It is noted, however, that this knowledge is still incomplete and the exact mechanism(s) of action responsible for VAERD are not yet fully explained; each animal model may be deficient in some unknown way. The WHO Guideline carefully notes that the results of testing new vaccine candidates for VAERD in animals may not be predictive of outcomes in RSV-naïve infants and a cautious approach to clinical testing must follow even when negative results suggestive of VAERD are obtained during animal testing. Importantly, the WHO Guideline stresses that the exact predictive value of animal models will only be determined once vaccine candidates proceed into evaluation in RSV-naïve infants.

A review of animal models for RSV and VAERD is beyond the scope of this summary. Animal models proposed include those in mice, neonatal mice, genetically engineered mice, cotton rats, Syrian hamsters, chinchillas, guinea pigs, ferrets, calves, sheep, neonatal lambs. and non-human primates. Excellent reviews on the insights gained from nonclinical animal testing as well as the advantages and limitations of the various models for the study of RSV were published by <u>Taylor, 2017</u>; <u>Altamirano-Lagos, et al.</u>, <u>2019</u>; <u>McGinley, et al.</u>, 2022; and <u>Drysdale, et al.</u>, 2024.

Since the 2017 VRBPAC meeting and since the publication of the WHO Guideline on RSV vaccines in 2020 (<u>WHO, 2020</u>), no new animal models or technology have been introduced that significantly improve our ability to assess or predict the risk of VAERD.

#### 4.2.2 Clinical Data

Provided that the nonclinical data support progression to Phase 1 clinical trials in humans (see <u>Section 4.2.1</u>), FDA reviews Sponsors' clinical protocols to evaluate study design, with a focus on safety measures and monitoring. For RSV vaccine candidates, Phase 1 first-in-human studies are conducted in RSV-experienced healthy younger adults prior to enrolling

pediatric and older adult RSV-experienced populations. While data from RSV-experienced populations will not necessarily predict subsequent risk of VAERD for RSV-naïve infants, the safety/reactogenicity and immunogenicity data can inform future vaccine candidate, dose, and schedule selection and provide information regarding cellular and humoral immune responses that may be important for protection and predictive of VAERD, prior to exposing RSV-naïve infants (Browne, et al., 2019).

If safety and immunogenicity data from RSV-experienced adults provide adequate reassurance of vaccine safety and evidence of potential vaccine effectiveness, age deescalation to Phase 1 trials in RSV-naïve and/or infant and toddler populations may be considered. The requisite safety measures may vary across programs, depending on the specifics of the investigational vaccine (e.g., vaccine technology, nonclinical data, available clinical data). In general, the main goal of FDA review of proposed Phase 1 protocols in potentially RSV-naïve infant/toddler populations has been to ensure that the protocol will provide sufficient safety data (including RSV surveillance data) across a relatively small number of study participants, using a cautious approach with clearly delineated risk monitoring and risk mitigation measures, to support progression to larger, later phase studies and identify early evidence of potential VAERD risk. An additional goal has been to ensure that the protocol design includes collection of preliminary immunogenicity data that could identify markers for possible VAERD risk (e.g., Th2 > Th1 responses, low nAb titer in response to vaccination) and determine whether immune responses support further investigation of the RSV vaccine candidate.

FDA-recommended safety measures across pediatric RSV vaccine candidate clinical development programs for clinical protocols that enroll potentially RSV-naïve infants and toddlers have included the following:

- Initial enrollment criteria to include only healthy, full-term infants and toddlers.
- Collection of baseline blood samples for RSV serostatus, used for enrollment stratification (if feasible) and/or for later evaluation of potential safety signals.
- Enrollment strategies that include age de-escalation from toddlers to infants and, if possible, from baseline RSV-seropositive (RSV-experienced) individuals to RSVseronegative (RSV-naïve) individuals.
- Study objectives to assess cellular immune responses, including Th1 and Th2 subtyping, in addition to humoral immune responses.
- Safety and immunogenicity monitoring through at least 2 RSV seasons.
- Adequate study pause rules, whereby study enrollment and dosing are paused in the event that pre-specified safety criteria are met, including a threshold of severe RSV cases.
- Inclusion of a Data Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) or Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) responsible for:
  - Review of safety, clinical, and immunogenicity data in older/RSV-experienced participants, preferably through a complete RSV season post-vaccination, as a prerequisite to enrollment of younger/RSV-naïve participants.
  - Ad hoc review of data if a pause rule criterion is met.
  - Regular, ongoing review of study data throughout the duration of the study.
- Pre-specified RSV case definitions

#### 5. Severe Respiratory Disease Safety Signal

In July 2024, FDA was notified of a study pause in Phase 1 study mRNA-1365-P101 due to a study pause criterion being met. A potential safety signal for RSV sLRTI was identified, and as additional information accrued, an imbalance in cases of RSV sLRTI was noted, with more cases identified in the vaccine groups compared with the control group. This raised a concern for possible VAERD.

mRNA-1365-P101 is a Phase 1 study evaluating the safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of 2 dose levels (15 µg and 30 µg total antigen) of mRNA-1345 (RSV only vaccine) and mRNA-1365 (RSV/hMPV vaccine) in healthy participants 5 months to <24 months of age. The two mRNA vaccines each contain an mRNA sequence which encodes the RSV F glycoprotein stabilized in the preF conformation. Prior to initiation of this study, FDA reviewed nonclinical data from studies conducted in BALB/c mice and cotton rats, including cotton rat challenge models for both RSV and hMPV; neither test demonstrated immunological or pathological features associated with VAERD after challenge with the homologous virus in properly controlled studies. In addition, the available clinical data from ongoing studies in adults and RSV seropositive children 12 months through 59 months of age supported progression to studies in younger cohorts.

Recruitment for the Phase 1 study was initiated February 2023 in infants/children 8 months through <24 months of age, followed by DSMB review of safety and immunogenicity data after a full RSV season, which was required prior to age de-escalation to the 5-month to <8-month-old cohorts, considered more likely to be RSV-naïve. At the time of the DSMB review and recommendation to proceed to the younger cohorts, preliminary study data showed no indication of VAERD.

Following enrollment of the 5-month to <8-month-old cohorts, a potential safety signal for RSV sLRTI was identified. The protocol's study pause criterion of any sLRTI with positive polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for RSV in ≥2 participants was met. Once the pause rule was met, the study was immediately put on hold by the Sponsor, and no participants were subsequently enrolled or received additional doses. Additional respiratory surveillance data were accrued, and additional cases were observed as the RSV season continued. An imbalance was noted, with more RSV-confirmed infections in the vaccine groups progressing to sLRTI compared with the placebo group.

#### 5.1 Study Design

All mRNA-1365-P101 study participants were intended to receive a 3-dose schedule (0, 2, and 4 months). The study has 3 parts (A, B, and C) and is being conducted in the U.S. (Parts A and C), Panama (Parts A and B), and the U.K. (Part B).

- Part A (Cohorts 1 and 2) is randomized, observer-blind, and placebo-controlled, and is designed to evaluate 30 µg mRNA-1345, 30 µg mRNA-1365, and placebo in approximately 90 participants 8 months to <24 months of age (randomized in a 1:1:1 ratio, respectively).
- Part B (Cohorts 3 through 6) is randomized, observer-blind, and placebo controlled, and is designed to evaluate 2 dose levels of mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 and placebo in approximately 120 participants 5 months to <8 months of age (randomized in a 1:1:1 ratio, respectively).

 Part C (Cohorts 7 and 8) is open-label and began enrollment following initiation of Part B Cohorts 3 and 4. It is designed to evaluate 3 doses of 30 µg mRNA-1345 administered to approximately 100 participants 8 months to <12 months of age who have (Cohort 7) or have not (Cohort 8) previously received nirsevimab.

Planned immunogenicity assessments include:

- RSV-A and RSV-B nAb as measured by microneutralization assay
- RSV preF- and postF-bAb
- Measures of cell-mediated immunity

All study participants in Part A (enrolled at 8 months to <24 months of age) had completed the 3-dose series (0, 2, 4 months). As mentioned above, a potential safety signal was observed in infants 5 months to <8 months enrolled in Part B, resulting in pause in additional dosing for all study participants for Parts B and C with continuing surveillance activities, safety follow-up, and immunogenicity assessments. At the time of study pause, Part B participants in Cohorts 3 and 4 had completed 2 doses (0, 2 months) and Cohorts 5 and 6 had completed 1 dose, while Part C participants had completed 1 dose. According to the protocol, blood was collected for immunogenicity assessments as follows:

- Part A: antibody-mediated immunogenicity to be collected from all participants at Days 1, 29 (28 days post-dose 1), 85 (28 days post-dose 2), and 141 (28 days post-dose 3). Blood for cell-mediated immunogenicity may be collected at Days 1 and 85 from a subset of participants ≥12 months of age at enrollment.
- Part B: antibody-mediated immunogenicity to be collected from all participants at Days 1, 85 (28 days post-dose 2), 141 (28 days post-dose 3), and 365 (252 days post-dose 3). Following the study pause, the protocol was updated to collect blood for cell-mediated immunogenicity at selected sites at an optional unscheduled visit and at Day 365.
- Part C: antibody-mediated immunogenicity to be collected from all participants at Days 1, 29 (28 days post-dose 1), 85 (28 days post-dose 2), and 141 (28 days post-dose 3). Blood for cell-mediated immunogenicity may be collected for participants at Days 1, 29, 85, and 141.

After review of the data from Part A, the DSMB recommended enrollment of Part B (Cohorts 3 and 4) participants to receive the first of 3 doses of 15 µg mRNA-1345, 15 µg mRNA-1365, or placebo. Administration of the second dose was based on DSMB recommendation, considering ongoing monthly review of cumulative, unblinded reactogenicity and safety data. Initiation of enrollment of Part B (Cohorts 5 and 6) participants 5 months to <8 months of age to receive 3 doses of 30 µg mRNA-1345, 30 µg mRNA-1365, or placebo commenced after DSMB review of safety data from Cohorts 3 and 4 through 7 days post-dose 1.

# 5.2 Study Findings

#### 5.2.1 Identification and Management of Safety Signal

On July 17, 2024, the Sponsor was made aware that a study pause criterion (any severe LRTI with positive PCR for RSV in ≥2 participants) was met. The Sponsor paused further enrollment and dosing in the study as per the protocol-defined process and notified the DSMB Chair, investigators, regulatory authorities, and the Institutional Review Board (IRB).

On July 18, 2024, the first ad hoc meeting of the DSMB was convened to review clinical information regarding the cases that led to study pause, and on July 19, 2024, the DSMB recommended continued pause of study enrollment and dosing in all cohorts pending further review.

On July 19, 2024, the Sponsor notified FDA of the study-wide pause and their continuing safety investigation. In accordance with the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), 21 CFR 312.42(d), FDA placed the IND on clinical hold the same day. The regulatory basis for the clinical hold was:

- 1. Human participants are or would be exposed to an unreasonable and significant risk of illness or injury, per 21 CFR 312.42(b)(1)(i).
- 2. The IND does not contain sufficient information, as required under 21 CFR 312.23, to assess the risks to participants of the proposed studies, per 21 CFR 312.42(b)(1)(iv).

The DSMB continued to hold ad hoc meetings on a frequent basis, including on July 18, July 19, July 25, and August 7, 2024, during the initial evaluation period to review accumulating study data, request additional information from the Sponsor, address Sponsor questions, and make further recommendations. The DSMB has continued to recommend that the study pause remain in place with enrollment and dosing suspended.

Based on the DSMB recommendation, the Sponsor established a Blinded Clinical Assessment Team (BCAT) to conduct regular reviews of available data for all RSV infections and to formalize a systemic approach to severity grading to facilitate safety oversight and communication. As additional severe RSV LRTI cases were reported, the Sponsor identified, on August 6, 2024, potential RSV VAERD in infants 5 months to <8 months of age in association with mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 as an emerging safety signal with significant impact on the benefit-risk profile of the investigational vaccines. On August 12, 2024, the Sponsor classified this safety signal as an important potential risk.

The Sponsor notified all study investigators of the potential RSV VAERD risk, updated participants by a communication letter, and initiated reconsent of all active participants with revised informed consent documents that included updated information about the potential risk of RSV VAERD. The study protocol was updated to discontinue enrollment and dosing while continuing surveillance activities, safety follow-up, and immunogenicity assessments. The revised protocol includes an additional optional blood collection for cell-mediated immunogenicity in a subset of Part B participants.

On September 12, 2024, the Sponsor publicly announced that the RSV program for seronegative children <2 years of age was listed under discontinued programs with the statement, "The company does not expect program to advance beyond the ongoing Phase 1 based on emerging clinical data."

The BCAT continues to conduct regular reviews of available data. DSMB continues to receive real-time notifications for new sLRTI and BCAT aggregate assessments, and meets to review data frequently.

FDA continues to review safety, clinical, and immunogenicity data from Study mRNA-1365-P101 as it becomes available to FDA. In addition, FDA has reviewed Sponsor analyses from two other studies of mRNA-1345 that enrolled pediatric populations including baseline RSVseropositive children 12 months through 59 months of age and children 2 through 4 years of age. Those analyses did not identify any severe or serious RSV-related adverse events (AEs).

#### 5.2.2 Study Enrollment and Dosing as of Study Pause

Study mRNA-1365-P101 was initiated with enrollment of Part A (Cohorts 1 and 2) participants from February 2023. Enrollment completed prior to the respective 2023 RSV seasons. Dosing was completed in Part A in October 2023, and participants have completed their first RSV season.

Cohorts 3 and 4 in Part B were fully enrolled in May 2024 and all participants had received two doses prior to the study pause. Cohorts 5 and 6 in Part B initiated enrollment in June 2024 and were not completely enrolled before the study pause. Participants had received a single dose at the time of the study pause.

Cohorts 7 and 8 in Part C initiated enrollment in June 2024 but were not fully enrolled before the study pause. Part C participants had received a single vaccine dose at the time of the study pause (see <u>Appendix 1</u>).

### 5.2.3 Reported RSV Severe Lower Respiratory Tract Infection Cases

#### Part A (8 months to <24 months of age participants)

One case of severe RSV LRTI was reported in a 24-month-old study participant with no significant past medical history enrolled in Cohort 2 (30 µg mRNA-1365). The event occurred 333 days after completion of the 3-dose series (0, 2, 4 months) during the participant's 2<sup>nd</sup> RSV season. The event was reported after age de-escalation and enrollment of the 5-month to <8-month-old cohorts had started. The participant was hospitalized for RSV pneumonia diagnosed on chest x-ray. They were treated with oxygen via face mask, unknown nebulized therapies, and amoxicillin (for concurrent pharyngotonsillitis). The participant was discharged to home on hospital Day 2. The event was considered resolved 15 days after onset. As of the date of data cut-off (November 18, 2024), there have been no other reported severe RSV LRTI cases in Part A study participants.

#### Part B (5 months to <8 months of age participants): Imbalance

As described in <u>Section 5.2.1</u>, the study pause rule criterion for any severe LRTI with positive PCR for RSV in ≥2 participants was met, with an imbalance in reported cases of vaccine recipients compared to placebo recipients in Part B. One participant in Cohort 3 (15 µg mRNA-1345) developed severe RSV LRTI and one participant in Cohort 4 (15 µg mRNA-1365) developed very severe RSV LRTI (see <u>Appendix 2</u> for protocol case definitions). Following the study pause, participants have continued to be followed for the development of RSV disease.

Table 1 provides an overview of the reported cases of symptomatic RSV disease and those LRTI cases that were assessed as clinically significant severe/very severe (CS-severe/very severe) through the date of data cut-off (November 18, 2024). CS-severe/very severe LRTI was defined as RSV LRTI cases that met the protocol specified definition of severe or very severe and/or required hospitalization. There was an imbalance in the numbers of cases of CS-severe/very severe LRTI in the vaccine groups in Part B Cohorts 3 and 4 (mRNA-1345/1365 15 µg groups: 5 cases) as compared with the Part B Placebo group (1 case).

Part/Cohort	Vaccination (Dose)	Symptomatic RSV n/N (%)	CS-Severe/ Very Severe RSV LRTI <sup>a</sup> n/N (%)	% of Symptomatic RSV Cases Classified as CS- Severe/Very Severe <sup>a</sup>
Part A Cohort 1	mRNA-1345 (30 μg)	11/29 (37.9%)	0	0%
Part A Cohort 2	mRNA-1365 (30 µg)	13/30 (43.3%)	1/30 (3.3%)	7.7%
Part A Cohorts 1 & 2	Placebo	14/31 (45.2%)	0	0%
Part B Cohort 3	mRNA1345 (15 μg)	9/20 (45.0%)	2/20 (10%)	22.2%
Part B Cohort 4	mRNA 1365 (15 µg)	10/20 (50.0%)	3/20 (15%)	30.0%
Part B Cohorts 3 & 4	Placebo	12/20 (60.0%)	1/20 (5.0%)	8.3%
Part B Cohort 5	mRNA-1345 (30 µg)	5/7 (71.4%)	0	0%
Part B Cohort 6	mRNA-1365 (30 μg)	1/7 (14.3%)	0	0%
Part B Cohorts 5 & 6	Placebo	4/7 (57.1%)	0	0%
Part C Cohorts 7 & 8	mRNA-1345 (30 μg)	0	0	0%

 Table 1. Overview of Symptomatic RSV Cases and Clinically Significant-Severe/Very Severe RSV

 LRTIs, Study mRNA-1365-P101

Abbreviations: CS=clinically significant, LRTI=lower respiratory tract infection, n=number of cases, N=total number of participants, RSV=respiratory syncytial virus

Date of data cut-off: November 18, 2024

Highlighted rows identify cohorts for which there was an imbalance in CS-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI cases between vaccine recipients and placebo recipients.

Part A: Participants 8 months to <24 months; Part B: Participants 5 months to <8 months; Part C: Participants 8 months to <12 months.

a. Any per protocol severe LRTI AND any per protocol very severe LRTI AND any RSV infection hospitalization, post hoc definition

Table 2 provides details for each of the CS-severe/very severe LRTI cases in Part B Cohorts 3 and 4. Five of the six cases required hospitalization with one infant requiring mechanical ventilation. All cases were considered resolved within a median of 19.5 days of symptom onset (range 8-31 days).

RSV Case #	Vaccination	Age at Event (Months)	Doses Received Prior to Event	Days Between Event Onset and Most Recent Dose	Additional Clinical Details
#1	mRNA-1365 (15 µg)	8 m	1	23	Hospitalized (non-ICU)     Max. support <sup>a</sup> : supplemental O <sub>2</sub> (unknown level)
#2	mRNA-1365 (15 μg)	8 m	2	26	<ul> <li>Hospitalized (non-ICU)</li> <li>SARS-CoV-2 co-infection</li> <li>Max. support: 2 L/min NC</li> </ul>
#3	mRNA-1365 (15 μg)	8 m	2	10	<ul> <li>Hospitalized (ICU)</li> <li>SARS-CoV-2 + Human rhinovirus/enterovirus co-infectior</li> <li>Bilateral pulmonary infiltrates</li> <li>Max. support: Mechanical ventilation</li> </ul>
#4	mRNA-1345 (15 μg)	9 m	2	3	<ul><li>Not hospitalized (ED visit only)</li><li>Max. support: none</li></ul>
#5	mRNA-1345 (15 μg)	9 m	2	14	<ul><li>Hospitalized (non-ICU)</li><li>Max. support: None</li></ul>
#6	Placebo	10 m	2	37	<ul> <li>Hospitalized (non-ICU)</li> <li>Human metapneumovirus co-infection</li> <li>Pneumonia</li> <li>Max. support: 3 L/min NC</li> </ul>

Table 2. Part B Cohorts 3 and 4 Cases of Clinical	v Significant-Severe/Ver	v Severe RSV I RTI* Study mRNA-1365-P101
	y orginiticant-ocverer ver	y devele nov Entry, drady mining 1000-1 101

Abbreviations: CS=clinically significant, ED=emergency department, ICU=intensive care unit; L=liters, LRTI=lower respiratory tract infection, m=months, Max=maximum, NC=nasal cannula, RSV=respiratory syncytial virus

\*Any per protocol severe LRTI AND any per protocol very severe LRTI AND any RSV infection hospitalization, post hoc definition a. Max support=maximum level of respiratory support reported during LRTI event

# 5.2.4 Immunogenicity Results

## 5.2.4.1 Part A results

#### RSV nAb and bAb responses

RSV A and RSV B nAb responses for Part A participants are shown in Table 3. Day 85 RSV nAb responses were highest following mRNA-1345 ( $30 \mu g$ ) as compared with mRNA-1365 ( $30 \mu g$ ) and placebo. RSV infection occurred prior to the Day 85 antibody measurement for 2 vaccine recipients (mRNA-1365 30 days and 29 days before collection) and 1 placebo recipient (4 days before collection).

	RSV A nAb GMT (IU/mL)		RSV B nAb GMT (IU/mL)	
Timepoint	(Min, Max)	Fold Rise	(Min, Max)	Fold Rise
mRNA-1345 (30 µg) Baseline N=29	81 (7, 1516)		42 (5, 738)	
mRNA-1345 (30 μg) Day 85 N=29	12,848 (1745, 86251)	149	2412 (280, 19334)	53
mRNA-1365 (30 µg) Baseline N=26	119 (13, 1549)		108 (15, 10955)	
mRNA-1365 (30 μg) Day 85 N=26	6300 (527, 49912)	53	1392 (168, 9940)	13
Placebo Baseline N=26	137 (7, 35641)		61 (5, 3921)	
Placebo Day 85 N=26	250 (7, 13741)	2	103 (5, 8831)	2

# Table 3. RSV A and RSV B Neutralizing Antibody (nAb) Responses at Day 85, 8 Months – 24 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101, Part A Cohorts 1 and 2

Abbreviations: GMT=geometric mean titer, IU=international units, mL=milliliter, N=total participants with available data, nAb=neutralizing antibody, RSV=respiratory syncytial virus, µg=microgram

RSV events may have occurred prior to Day 85 antibody measurements

The bAb responses following mRNA-1345 (30  $\mu$ g) as compared with mRNA-1365 (30  $\mu$ g) and placebo are shown in Table 4.

Table 4. PreF and PostF bAb Responses, 8 Months – 24 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101,
Part A Cohorts 1 and 2

Timepoint	RSV Pre-F bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	Fold Rise	RSV Post-F bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	Fold Rise	PreF/PostF Ratio
mRNA-1345 (30 µg) Baseline N=29	211 (18, 13711)		368 (29, 21253)		
mNA-1345 (30 μg) Day 85 N=29	89,306 (17705, 580533)	338	13,626 (455, 166675)	26	6.6
mRNA-1365 (30 µg) Baseline N=26	519 (18, 11277)		886 (29, 27517)		

Timepoint	RSV Pre-F bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	Fold Rise	RSV Post-F bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	Fold Rise	PreF/PostF Ratio
mNA-1365 (30 μg) Day 85 N=26	44,082 (6263, 239263)	85	12,104 (136, 161911)	14	3.6
Placebo Baseline N=26	552 (18, 112457)		979 (29, 27395)		
Placebo Day 85 N=26	1077 (18, 188320)	2	1119 (29, 137844)	1.1	1.0

Abbreviations: GMC=geometric mean concentration, AU=arbitrary units, max=maximum; min=minimum, mL=milliliter, bAb=binding antibody, RSV=respiratory syncytial virus, µg=microgram

RSV events may have occurred prior to Day 85 antibody measurements.

#### **RSV** Serostatus

Using the per protocol definition of seropositive (nAb  $\geq$  lower limit of quantification [LLOQ]), 93.1% of mRNA-1345 recipients, 100% of mRNA 1365 recipients, and 96.2% of placebo recipients were seropositive at baseline. The Sponsor also performed post-hoc analyses of serostatus based on a seropositive definition of PostF bAb concentration  $\geq$ 200AU/mL. Using this definition, 61.5% of mRNA-1345 recipients, 44.8% of mRNA 1365 recipients, and 65.4% of placebo recipients were seropositive at baseline.

#### **RSV T-cell responses**

Cytokines representative of Th1 (IL-2, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$ ) and Th2 (IL-13, IL-5, and IL-4) responses were measured in a subset of Part A participants (mRNA-1345: N=5 at baseline, N=8 at day 85, N=5 at both timepoints; mRNA-1365: N=7 at baseline, N=8 at day 85, N=4 at both timepoints; Placebo: N=5 at baseline, N=6 at day 85, N=4 at both timepoints).

Preliminary analyses of data from this small subset of Part A participants suggested that, at baseline, participants defined as previously RSV-experienced had evidence of Th1 responses. Th2 responses were below the lower limit of quantitation (LLOQ). After mRNA RSV vaccination, a higher proportion of participants defined as RSV-naïve at baseline appeared to have an IL-5 response compared with participants previously RSV-experienced. Following vaccination, the levels of other Th2 cytokines, IL-13 and IL-4, appeared comparable between both RSV-naïve and previously RSV-experienced participants. Th1 responses at day 85 appeared to be generally similar between RSV-naïve and previously RSV-experienced participants, including those previously RSV-experienced, remained below the lower limit of quantitation at day 85. These data suggest a potential trend towards increased frequency of IL-5 responses (a Th2 cytokine) in RSV naïve participants as compared with RSV experienced participants following vaccination. The small number of participants with available immunogenicity data and the absence of data from participants who developed RSV disease limit the interpretation of these results.

# 5.2.4.2 Part B results

#### RSV nAb and bAb responses

Participant RSV A and RSV B nAb responses by RSV case classification are shown in Table 5, and include Day 85 nAb responses, which per protocol, were not performed until Day 85 (1-month post-dose 2). However, for the mRNA1345 and mRNA1365 vaccine

recipients listed in Table 5, the events of Clinically Significant (CS)-Severe/ Very Severe RSV LRTI events had all occurred prior to the Day 85 sera collection, while the same events in the placebo group occurred after the Day 85 sera collection. For the participants with Other RSV infections, the values shown in Table 5 were measured either before (N=10) or after (N=15) RSV infection. The timing of these antibody measurements confounds the interpretation of these data.

RSV A RSV B					
Classification	nAb GMT (IU/mL) (Min, Max)	RSV A nAb Fold Rise	nAb GMT (IU/mL) (Min, Max)	RSV B nAb Fold Rise	
CS-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI <sup>a</sup>					
mRNA-1345 15 μg Baseline N=2	36 (34, 37)		55 (53, 57)		
mRNA-1345 15 μg Study Day 85 N=2	60,721 (15990, 230585)	1712	52,511 (24515, 112476)	955.4	
mRNA-1365 15 μg Baseline N=3	73 (33, 262)		76 (49, 111)		
mRNA-1365 15 μg Study Day 85 N=2	33,622 (20812, 54317)	313.1	24,497 (7686, 78080)	393.7	
Placebo Baseline N=1	26		21		
Placebo Study Day 85 N=1	21	0.8	19	0.9	
RSV RTI/LRTI <sup>b</sup>					
mRNA-1345 15 µg Baseline N=7	140 (48, 653)		98 (45, 422)		
mRNA-1345 15 μg Study Day 85 N=7	3299 (444, 13340)	23.6	1768 (240, 5184)	18.0	
mRNA-1365 15 µg Baseline N=7	155 (41, 2994)		98 (30, 1620)		
mRNA-1365 15 μg Study Day 85 N=6	1425 (86, 25418)	7.9	965 (122, 27706)	8.1	
Placebo Baseline N=11	80 (31, 213)		91 (27, 281)		
Placebo Study Day 85 N=9	833 (50, 5777)	10.4	285 (38, 1541)	3.2	

# Table 5. RSV A and RSV B Neutralizing Antibody (nAb) Responses Based on RSV Infection Classification, 5 Months – <8 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101, Part B Cohorts 3 and 4

Classification	RSV A nAb GMT (IU/mL) (Min, Max)	RSV A nAb Fold Rise	RSV B nAb GMT (IU/mL) (Min, Max)	RSV B nAb Fold Rise
No RSV Infection <sup>c</sup>				
mRNA-1345 15 μg Baseline N=11	79 (24, 1478)		65 (22, 160)	
mRNA-1345 15 μg Study Day 85 N=11	4093 (1116, 27195)	51.7	2215 (680, 5529)	33.9
mRNA-1365 15 µg Baseline N=10	61 (24, 2155)		47 (15, 139)	
mRNA-1365 15 μg Study Day 85 N=9	2339 (72, 26846)	36.4	831 (35, 3306)	15.0
Placebo Baseline N=8	238 (69, 1248)		175 (64, 945)	
Placebo Study Day 85 N=7	273 (30, 6494)	1.0	183 (22, 3969)	1.0

Abbreviations: CS=clinically significant, GMT=geometric mean titer, IU=international units, LRTI=lower respiratory tract infection, max=maximum, min=minimum, mL=milliliter, N=total number of participants with available data, nAb=neutralizing antibody, RSV=respiratory syncytial virus, RTI=respiratory tract infection, µg=microgram

a. CS-Severe/Very Severe: Any per protocol severe LRTI AND any per protocol very severe LRTI AND any RSV infection hospitalization, post hoc definition. For mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 recipients with CS-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI, the RSV event occurred prior to the Day 85 collection. For the placebo participant, the RSV event occurred after the Day 85 collection. b. RSV RTI/LRTI: Any confirmed RSV infection not meeting the definition of CS-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI. For mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 recipients with RTI/LRTI not meeting the CS-severe/very severe definition, the RSV event occurred prior to the Day 85 collection for N=2 and N=5 respectively and after the Day 85 collection for N=5 and N=2. For the placebo recipients, the RSV event occurred prior to the Day 85 collection for N=8 and and after for N=3. c. No confirmed RSV infection

The patterns of bAb responses were similar to those of the nAb responses (Table 6). The preF to postF ratios were highest in individuals vaccinated with mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365.

Classification	, Study mRNA-1365-F RSV PreF bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	RSV PostF bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	PreF/PostF Ratio
CS-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI <sup>a</sup>			
mRNA-1345 15 µg			
Baseline	193	435	
N=2	(165, 225)	(384, 492)	
mRNA-1345 15 μg	399,646	61,218	
Study Day 85	(275112, 580553)	(52835, 70930)	6.5
N=2	(275112, 560555)	(52655, 70950)	
mRNA-1365 15 μg	253	319	
Baseline	(203, 368)	(257, 401)	
N=3	(203, 300)	(237, 401)	
mRNA-1365 15 μg	392,259	55,735	
Study Day 85	(265036, 580553)	(38089, 81557)	7.0
N=2	(200000, 000000)		
Placebo			
Baseline	184	273	
N=1			
Placebo	10		
Study Day 85*	18	29	0.6
N=1			
RSV RTI/LRTI b			
mRNA-1345 15 μg	676	552	
Baseline	(274, 6374)	(213, 2594)	
N=7	( , ,		
mRNA-1345 15 μg	31,629	1182	26.8
Study Day 85 N=7	(4987, 85123)	(193, 24216)	20.0
mRNA-1365 15 μg			
Baseline	404	306	
N=7	(83, 3488)	(28.5, 1942)	
mRNA-1365 15 µg			
Study Day 85	15,074	1227	12.3
N=6	(1322, 280540)	(267, 16693)	12.0
Placebo	000	070	
Baseline	289	273	
N=11	(100, 972)	(82, 1020)	
Placebo	0447	4400	
Study Day 85	3147	4129	0.8
N=9	(122, 15309)	(160, 25604)	

 Table 6. PreF and PostF bAb Responses Based on RSV Infection Classification, Part B Cohorts 3 and 4, 5 Months – <8 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101, Part B Cohorts 3 and 4</th>

Classification	RSV PreF bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	RSV PostF bAb GMC (AU/mL) (Min, Max)	PreF/PostF Ratio
No RSV Infection <sup>c</sup>			
mRNA-1345 15 μg Baseline N=11	396 (51, 4484)	393 (100, 3589)	
mRNA-1345 15 μg Study Day 85 N=11	32,780 (12817, 82388)	2165 (303, 46437)	15.1
mRNA-1365 15 µg Baseline N=10	92 (17.5, 2598)	115 (28.5, 8151)	
mRNA-1365 15 µg Study Day 85 N=9	27,098 (2924, 578705)	1795 (68, 67572)	15.1
Placebo Baseline N=8	719 (492, 1749)	1140 (370, 7776)	
Placebo Study Day 85 N=7	824 (56, 47609)	914 (28.5, 89397)	0.9

Abbreviations: AU=arbitrary units, bAb=binding antibody, GMC=geometric mean concentration, LRTI=lower respiratory tract infection, max=maximum, min=minimum, mL=milliliter, N=total number of participants with available data, nAb=neutralizing antibody, RSV=respiratory syncytial virus, RTI=respiratory tract infection, µg=microgram

a. CS-Severe/Very Severy: Any per protocol severe LRTI AND any per protocol very severe LRTI AND any RSV infection hospitalization, post hoc definition. For mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 recipients with CS-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI, the RSV event occurred prior to the Day 85 collection. For the placebo participant, the RSV event occurred after the Day 85 collection. b. RSV RTI/LRTI: Any confirmed RSV infection not meeting the definition of CS-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI. For mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 recipients with RTI/LRTI not meeting the CS-severe/very severe definition, the RSV event occurred prior to the Day 85 collection for N=2 and N=5 respectively and after the Day 85 collection for N=5 and N=2. For the placebo recipients, the RSV event occurred prior to the Day 85 collection for N=8 and after for N=3.

#### c. No confirmed RSV infection

#### **RSV Serostatus**

The presence of maternally derived antibodies complicates determination of participant baseline serostatus. Consequently, all participants in Part B met the protocol definition of positive baseline serostatus (RSV A and/or B nAb concentrations ≥LLOQ).

The Sponsor performed exploratory post-hoc analyses to determine the most appropriate biomarker of participant RSV serostatus at baseline. Evaluated biomarkers included:

- nAb against RSV A and RSV B
- IgG bAb to RSV antigen PreF and PostF
- PreF/PostF ratios at D85 post-vaccination
- IgA bAb to RSV A antigen and RSV B PreF antigens using assays in development

Of these biomarkers, IgG bAb to RSV antigen PostF was identified by the Sponsor as the best performing measure of baseline serostatus for participants 5 months to <8 months of age.

#### RSV T-cell responses

Analyses of T-cell responses in Part B Cohort 3 and 4 participants are not available at the time of preparation of this briefing document.

### 5.2.5 Cases of hMPV Hospitalization

On November 22, 2024, the Sponsor provided updated information on cases of hMPV hospitalizations in Cohort 3 and 4. Two were vaccine recipients (Cohort 4, mRNA-1365), including one participant who required non-invasive positive pressure ventilation and one was a placebo recipient with a co-infection with RSV. Additional clinical and immunologic data are currently not available.

#### 6. Vaccine Responses Following Nirsevimab

In Part C of Study mRNA-1365-P101, participants 8 months through <12 months of age either previously exposed to nirsevimab (N=9) or not previously exposed to nirsevimab (N=6) received 1 dose of 30 µg mRNA-1345. Antibody responses for these groups are shown in Table 7.

Table 7. RSV A and RSV B Neutralizing Antibody (nAb) Responses to mRNA-1345 in Nirsevimab-Exposed and Nirsevimab-Unexposed Participants 8 Months – 12 Months of Age, Study mRNA-1365-P101 Part C

Parameter	Nirsevimab-Exposed N=9	Nirsevimab-Unexposed N=6
Baseline GMT (min, max) (IU/mL)		
RSV A	10712 (3665, 34824)	44 (7, 655)
RSV B	263 (121, 619)	49 (12, 379)
Day 29 Post-Dose 1 mRNA 1345 (30 µg) GMT (min, max) (IU/mL)		
RSV A	7453 (3082, 19682)	4029 (79, 56688)
RSV B	249 (84, 1588)	1678 (36, 31309)
Fold-rise (95% CI)		
RSV A	0.7 (0.5, 1.2)	60.3 (10.8, 334.9)
RSV B	1 (0.5, 2.1)	19.1 (2.1, 175.1)

Abbreviations: CI=confidence interval, GMT=geometric mean titer, IU=international units, max =maximum, min=minimum, mL=milliliters, N=total number of participants, RSV=respiratory syncytial virus, µg=microgram

These results suggest a potential lack of response to a single dose of mRNA-1345 (30 µg) when administered to individuals previously exposed to nirsevimab, most notably for post-dose 1 RSV B GMT (249 IU/mL) in nirsevimab-exposed compared with post-dose 1 RSV B GMT (1678 IU/mL) in nirsevimab-unexposed participants. Antibody responses following the 3-dose series are not available because participants did not receive additional doses due to the study pause.

#### 7. Considerations for Ongoing Clinical Development of Pediatric RSV Vaccines

The observed imbalance in severe/very severe cases of RSV LRTI in the mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 vaccine development program among 5-month to <8-month-old recipients of mRNA-1345 (15  $\mu$ g) and mRNA-1365 (15  $\mu$ g) has uncertain implications for the ongoing and future pediatric development of other non-live attenuated RSV vaccines. The immunologic phenotype of cases of severe/very severe RSV disease in the vaccinated cohort have yet to be fully elucidated and histopathologic information is not available. Notably, differences in the mRNA vaccine candidates compared with FI-RSV vaccine and the available nonclinical data for the mRNA vaccine candidates were reassuring to mitigate risk of VAERD in infants and children in the clinical trial.

Preliminary analyses of humoral immunogentiy results from the clinical trial demonstrate nAb responses following vaccination of Part A (8-month to 24-month-olds) and Part B (5-month to <8-month-olds) participants that were many-fold higher than those in the placebo group.

Cell-mediated immunogenicity data were available for a small subset of Part A participants and were not available for any Part B participants; therefore, interpretability of these data may be limited. Preliminary analyses of cytokines representative of T-cell responses in the subset of Part A participants suggest a potential trend towards increased frequency of IL-5 responses (a Th2 cytokine) in RSV-naïve participants as compared with previously RSV-experienced participants following vaccination.

Currently, enrollment of children <2 years of age and RSV-naïve children 2 through 5 years of age is on hold for all clinical studies of RSV vaccine candidates under U.S. IND. In light of the available data from the mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 vaccine development program, the decision to re-initiate enrollment of at-risk populations for VAERD and allow future pediatric studies of other non-live attenuated RSV vaccines will need to consider:

- 1. Whether our current understanding of the pathophysiology of VAERD following administration of FI-RSV vaccine informs assessment of this potential risk across other vaccine technologies (e.g., live-attenuated chimeric respiratory viral, other viral vectored, mRNA, and recombinant particle/subunit vaccine candidates);
- 2. The need for additional clinical or other assessments to further characterize the nature of the potential VAERD safety signal;
- 3. Whether and what data may be helpful to stratify potential risk based on vaccine technology and/or antigenic composition;
- 4. The utility of nonclinical studies and data, additional nonclinical testing that may be necessary, and how and whether nonclinical studies can adequately predict or reassure against the risk of VAERD, and if this may vary across vaccine technologies and/or antigenic compositions;
- 5. Additional risk mitigation or risk management approaches that would be sufficient to address the potential for VAERD in a clinical trial;
- 6. A benefit-risk assessment approach that incorporates evidence of the benefit of a vaccine candidate in RSV-experienced children and uncertainties regarding the VAERD risk, all in the context of the available preventive landscape, including nirsevimab, other anti-RSV monoclonal antibodies in late phases of clinical development, and maternal immunization approaches; and
- How potential RSV mAB RSV vaccine interactions should be addressed in the design of clinical trials and the overall clinical development plan, including potential populations indicated for use.

#### 8. VRBPAC Discussion Topics

#### 8.1 Summary of Current State and Context for VRBPAC Discussion

Based on the current understanding of the immunopathogenesis of VAERD following FI-RSV vaccine administration (Section 2.3) and a requirement for nonclinical studies and data designed to mitigate the risk of VAERD (Section 4.1.1), pediatric development of RSV vaccines has proceeded cautiously, including assessment of immune responses in age de-escalation study designs prior to enrolling RSV-naïve participants, stringent eligibility criteria, study pausing rules, and other risk mitigation and management strategies. Factors that were thought to mitigate the risk of VAERD for mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 vaccine candidates included: (1) rational vaccine design, using a stabilized pre-F antigen; (2) nonclinical data that

demonstrated the absence of Th2-biased cytokine responses, adequate nAb responses, and lack of VAERD following post-vaccination RSV challenge; and (3) clinical safety and immunogenicity data from previously RSV-experienced adults and older children that demonstrated an acceptable safety profile and adequate nAb responses.

Despite these reassurances, an imbalance in severe RSV LRTI was noted following administration of mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 vaccine candidates to infants, which is concerning for VAERD. Additionally, vaccine immune responses in nirsevimab-exposed recipients were blunted, suggesting an adverse RSV mAb- RSV vaccine interaction. VRBPAC discussion topics will specifically address the interpretation of the safety data from the mRNA-1345 and mRNA-1365 vaccine pediatric clinical development program, the implications of these findings for ongoing and future pediatric development of other non-live attenuated RSV vaccines, and RSV mAb – RSV vaccine interactions. We envision the VRBPAC discussion to focus on: a) considerations of RSV Vaccine Safety in Pediatric Populations and b) Sequential Administration of RSV Monoclonal Antibodies (mAbs) followed by RSV Vaccines in Infants and Toddlers.

#### 9. References

Acosta, P et al. Brief history and Characterization of Enhanced Respiratory Syncytial Virus Disease. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology. 2016 March 7;23(3):189-195. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00609-15

Altamirano-Lagos MJ, Díaz FE, Mansilla MA, et al. Current Animal Models for Understanding the Pathology Caused by the Respiratory Syncytial Virus. Front Microbiol. 2019 May 3;10:873. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00873. PMID: 31130923; PMCID: PMC6510261.

American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), 2024. "Respiratory Syncytial Virus", Red Book: 2024–2027 Report of the Committee on Infectious Diseases, Committee on Infectious Diseases, American Academy of Pediatrics, David W. Kimberlin, MD, FAAP, Ritu Banerjee, MD, PhD, FAAP, Elizabeth D. Barnett, MD, FAAP, Ruth Lynfield, MD, FAAP, Mark H. Sawyer, MD, FAAP

Belshe RB, Van Voris LP, Mufson MA. Parenteral administration of live respiratory syncytial virus vaccine: results of a field trial. J Infect Dis. 1982 Mar;145(3):311-9. doi: 10.1093/infdis/145.3.311. PMID: 7037983.

Berbers G, Mollema L, van der Klis F, den Hartog G, Schepp R. Antibody Responses to Respiratory Syncytial Virus: A Cross-Sectional Serosurveillance Study in the Dutch Population Focusing on Infants Younger Than 2 Years. J Infect Dis. 2021 Jul 15;224(2):269-278. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa483. PMID: 32964923; PMCID: PMC8280491.

Blanco JCG, Pletneva LM, Otoa RO, et al. Preclinical assessment of safety of maternal vaccination against Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) in cotton rats. Vaccine. 2017 Jul 13;35(32):3951-3958. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.06.009.

Bowser DM, Rowlands KR, Hariharan D, et al. Cost of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infections in US Infants: Systematic Literature Review and Analysis. J Infect Dis. 2022 Aug 15;226(Suppl 2):S225-S235. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiac172. PMID: 35968875; PMCID: PMC9377037.

Browne SK, Beeler JA, Roberts JN. Summary of the Vaccines and Related Biological Products Advisory Committee meeting held to consider evaluation of vaccine candidates for the prevention of respiratory syncytial virus disease in RSV-naïve infants. Vaccine. 2020 Jan 10;38(2):101-106. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.10.048. Epub 2019 Nov 6. PMID: 31706809. Cacho F, Gebretsadik T, Anderson LJ, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Prevalence and Risk Factors among Healthy Term Infants, United States. Emerging Infectious Diseases. 2024;30(10):2199-2202. doi:10.3201/eid3010.240609.

Cane PA. Molecular epidemiology of respiratory syncytial virus. Rev Med Virol. 2001 Mar-Apr;11(2):103-16. doi: 10.1002/rmv.305. PMID: 11262529.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2023. Emergency Preparedness and Response. Increased Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Activity in Parts of the Southeastern United States: New Prevention Tools Available to Protect Patients. Accessed 11/19/2024. https://emergency.cdc.gov/han/2023/han00498.asp

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2024a. ACIP Recommendations: Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) Vaccine. Accessed 11/13/2024. https://www.cdc.gov/acip-recs/hcp/vaccine-specific/rsv.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2024b. ACIP Evidence to Recommendations for Use of Nirsevimab in Children 8-19 months of age at increased risk of severe disease entering their second RSV season. 2024. Accessed 11/19/2024. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/acip/evidence-to-recommendations/nirsevimab-season2-rsv-infants-children-etr.html</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2024c. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection (RSV). RSV-NET. Accessed 11/19/2024. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/rsv/php/surveillance/rsv-net.html</u>

Chin, J et al. Field evaluation of a respiratory syncytial virus vaccine and a trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine in a pediatric population. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1969 Apr;89(4):449-63. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120957.

Connors M, Giese NA, Kulkarni AB, et al. Enhanced pulmonary histopathology induced by respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) challenge of formalin-inactivated RSV-immunized BALB/c mice is abrogated by depletion of interleukin-4 (IL-4) and IL-10. J Virol. 1994 Aug;68(8):5321-5. doi: 10.1128/JVI.68.8.5321-5325.1994. PMID: 8035532; PMCID: PMC236482.

Dagan R, Hammitt LL, Seoane Nuñez B, Baca Cots M, et al. Infants Receiving a Single Dose of Nirsevimab to Prevent RSV Do Not Have Evidence of Enhanced Disease in Their Second RSV Season. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2024 Feb 26;13(2):144-147. doi: 10.1093/jpids/piad113. PMID: 38219024; PMCID: PMC10896255.

Delgado MF, Coviello S, Monsalvo AC, et al. Lack of antibody affinity maturation due to poor Toll-like receptor stimulation leads to enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease. Nat Med. 2009 Jan;15(1):34-41. doi: 10.1038/nm.1894. Epub 2008 Dec 14. PMID: 19079256; PMCID: PMC2987729.

De Swart RL, Kuiken T, Timmerman HH, van Amerongen G, Van Den Hoogen BG, Vos HW, Neijens HJ, Andeweg AC, Osterhaus AD. Immunization of macaques with formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) induces interleukin-13-associated hypersensitivity to subsequent RSV infection. J Virol. 2002 Nov;76(22):11561-9. doi: 10.1128/jvi.76.22.11561-11569.2002. PMID: 12388717; PMCID: PMC136757.

Drysdale SB, Thwaites RS, Price J, Thakur D, McGinley J, McPherson C, Öner D, Aerssens J, Openshaw PJ, Pollard AJ; RESCEU investigators. What have we learned from animal studies of immune responses to respiratory syncytial virus infection? J Clin Virol. 2024 Sep 22;175:105731. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2024.105731. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 39368446.

European Medicines Agency (EMA). Guideline on quality, non-clinical and clinical aspects of live recombinant viral vectored vaccines. London; 2010. EMA/CHMP/VWP/141697/2009. Accessed 11/25/2024. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline/guideline-quality-non-clinical-and-clinical-aspects-live-recombinant-viral-vectored-vaccines\_en.pdf

Falsey, A.R.; Singh, H.K.; Walsh E.E. Serum antibody decay in adults following natural respiratory syncytial virus infection. J.Med. Virol., 2006, 78(11), 1493-1497.

Fleming JA, Baral R, Higgins D, Khan S, Kochar S, Li Y, Ortiz JR, Cherian T, Feikin D, Jit M, Karron RA, Limaye RJ, Marshall C, Munywoki PK, Nair H, Newhouse LC, Nyawanda BO, Pecenka C, Regan K, Srikantiah P, Wittenauer R, Zar HJ, Sparrow E. Value profile for respiratory syncytial virus vaccines and monoclonal antibodies. Vaccine. 2023 Nov 3;41 Suppl 2:S7-S40. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.09.081. Epub 2023 Jul 6. PMID: 37422378.

Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection: Developing Antiviral Drugs for Prophylaxis and Treatment: Guidance for Industry. 2017. Accessed 11/22/2024 https://www.fda.gov/files/drugs/published/Respiratory-Syncytial-Virus-Infection--Developing-Antiviral-Drugs-for-Prophylaxis-and-Treatment-Guidance-for-Industry.pdf

Fulginiti VA, Eller JJ, Sieber OF, et al. Respiratory virus immunization. I. A field trial of two inactivated respiratory virus vaccines; an aqueous trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine and an alum-precipitated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine. Am J Epidemiol. 1969 Apr;89(4):435–448. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120956.

Hall CB, McBride JT, Walsh EE, Bell DM, Gala CL, Hildreth S, Ten Eyck LG, and Hall WJ, 1983, Aerosolized Ribavirin Treatment of Infants With Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection. A Randomized Double-Blind Study, N Engl J Med, 308(24):1443–1447.

Hall, C. B., Walsh, E. E., Long, C. E., & Schnabel, K. C. (1991). Immunity to and frequency of reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. The Journal of infectious diseases, 163(4), 693–698. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/163.4.693

Houde L, Law AW, Averin A, Weycker D, Cane A, Pugh S, Shea KM. Annual Clinical and Economic Burden of Medically Attended Lower Respiratory Tract Illnesses Due to Respiratory Syncytial Virus among US Infants Aged <12 Months. J Infect Dis. 2024 Nov 15:jiae544. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiae544. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 39546626.

Johnson PR, Spriggs MK, Olmsted RA, Collins PL. The G glycoprotein of human respiratory syncytial viruses of subgroups A and B: extensive sequence divergence between antigenically related proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1987 Aug;84(16):5625-9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.16.5625. PMID: 2441388; PMCID: PMC298915.

Jones JM, Fleming-Dutra KE, Prill MM, et al. Use of Nirsevimab for the Prevention of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Disease Among Infants and Young Children: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices — United States, 2023. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2023;72:920–925. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7234a4</u>

Kampmann B, Madhi S, Munjal I, et al. Bivalent Prefusion F Vaccine in Pregnancy to Prevent RSV Illness in Infants N Engl J Med 2023 Apr;388:1451-1464 Vol. 388 No. 16 doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2216480

Kapikian AZ, Mitchell RH, Chanock RM, et al. An epidemiologic study of altered clinical reactivity to respiratory syncytial (RS) virus infection in children previously vaccinated with an inactivated RS virus vaccine. Am J Epidemiol. 1969 Apr;89(4):405–421. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120954.

Karron RA. Chapter 52 - Respiratory Syncytial Virus Vaccines and Monoclonal Antibodies, Editor(s): Walter Orenstein, Paul Offit, Kathryn M. Edwards, Stanley Plotkin, Plotkin's Vaccines (Eighth Edition), Elsevier, 2023, Pages 998-1004.e5, ISBN 9780323790581, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-79058-1.00052-9</u>.

Killikelly AM, Kanekiyo M, Graham BS. Pre-fusion F is absent on the surface of formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus. Sci Rep. 2016 Sep 29;6:34108. doi: 10.1038/srep34108. PMID: 27682426; PMCID: PMC5040956.

Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. Am J Epidemiol. 1969 Apr;89(4):422–434. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120955.

Knudson CJ, Hartwig SM, Meyerholz DK, Varga SM. RSV vaccine-enhanced disease is orchestrated by the combined actions of distinct CD4 T cell subsets. PLoS Pathog. 2015 Mar 13;11(3):e1004757. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004757. PMID: 25769044; PMCID: PMC4358888.

Kwon YM, Hwang HS, Lee JS, et al. 2014. Maternal antibodies by passive immunization with formalin inactivated Respiratory Syncytial Virus confer protection without vaccine-enhanced disease. Antiviral Research, 104, 1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2014.01.008.

Li Y, Wang X, Blau DM, Caballero MT, et al.; Respiratory Virus Global Epidemiology Network; Nair H; RESCEU investigators. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in children younger than 5 years in 2019: a systematic analysis. Lancet. 2022 May 28;399(10340):2047-2064. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00478-0. Epub 2022 May 19. PMID: 35598608; PMCID: PMC7613574.

Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012 Dec 15;380(9859):2095-128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0. Erratum in: Lancet. 2013 Feb 23;381(9867):628. AlMazroa, Mohammad A [added]; Memish, Ziad A [added]. PMID: 23245604; PMCID: PMC10790329.

Mazur NI, Caballero MT, Nunes MC. Severe respiratory syncytial virus infection in children: burden, management, and emerging therapies. Lancet. 2024 Sep 21;404(10458):1143-1156. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(24)01716-1. Epub 2024 Sep 9. PMID: 39265587.

McGinley J, Thwaites R, Brebner W, Greenan-Barrett L, Aerssens J, Öner D, Bont L, Wildenbeest J, Martinón-Torres F, Nair H, Pollard AJ, Openshaw P, Drysdale S; REspiratory Syncytial virus Consortium in EUrope (RESCEU) Investigators. A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Animal Studies Investigating the Relationship Between Serum Antibody, T Lymphocytes, and Respiratory Syncytial Virus Disease. J Infect Dis. 2022 Aug 12;226(Suppl 1):S117-S129. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiab370. PMID: 34522970.

McLaughlin JM, Khan F, Schmitt HJ, Agosti Y, Jodar L, Simões EAF, Swerdlow DL. Respiratory Syncytial Virus-Associated Hospitalization Rates among US Infants: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Infect Dis. 2022 Mar 15;225(6):1100-1111. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa752. PMID: 33346360; PMCID: PMC8921994.

Munoz, FM, Piedra, PA, & Glezen WP. 2003. Safety and immunogenicity of Respiratory Syncytial Virus purified fusion protein-2 vaccine in pregnant women. Vaccine, 21(24), 3465–3467. doi: 10.1016/s0264-410x(03)00352-9.

Munro APS, Martinón-Torres F, Drysdale SB, Faust SN. The disease burden of respiratory syncytial virus in Infants. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2023 Oct 1;36(5):379-384. doi: 10.1097/QCO.000000000000952. Epub 2023 Aug 23. PMID: 37610444; PMCID: PMC10487373.

Murphy BR, Walsh EE. Formalin-inactivated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine induces antibodies to the fusion glycoprotein that are deficient in fusion-inhibiting activity. J Clin Microbiol. 1988 Aug;26(8):1595-7. doi: 10.1128/jcm.26.8.1595-1597.1988. PMID: 2459154; PMCID: PMC266671.

Nakajo K, Nishiura H. Age-Dependent Risk of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection: A Systematic Review and Hazard Modeling From Serological Data. J Infect Dis. 2023 Nov 11;228(10):1400-1409. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiad147. PMID: 37161934; PMCID: PMC10640776.

National Institutes of Health (NIH) National Library of Medicine. Bausch Health US, 1986, Virazole prescribing information, accessed 11/29/2024, https://dailymed.nlm.nih.gov/dailymed/drugInfo.cfm?setid=adf16e64-345f-469a-b987-3fbdd17e0ac2&audience=professional

Nyiro JU, Kombe IK, Sande CJ, Kipkoech J, Kiyuka PK, Onyango CO, Munywoki PK, Kinyanjui TM, Nokes DJ. Defining the vaccination window for respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) using ageseroprevalence data for children in Kilifi, Kenya. PLoS One. 2017 May 22;12(5):e0177803. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0177803. PMID: 28531224; PMCID: PMC5439681.

Ochola R, Sande C, Fegan G, et al. The level and duration of RSV-specific maternal IgG in infants in Kilifi Kenya. PLoS One 2009;4:e8088.

Orenstein WA, Offit PA, Edwards KM, Plotkin SA. Plotkin's Vaccines, 8th Edition, Chapter 52. December 21, 2022. Hardback ISBN: 9780323790581. eBook ISBN: 9780323790598

PATH RSV Clinical Trial Tracker. 2024. Accessed 11/22/2024. https://www.path.org/our-impact/resources/rsv-and-mab-trial-tracker/

Pérez Casas C, Tagarro A, Bassat Q, Rojo P. The Need for RSV Prophylaxis in LMICs. Pediatrics. 2024 Oct 1;154(4):e2024067062. doi: 10.1542/peds.2024-067062. PMID: 39252637.

Polack FP, Teng MN, Collins PL, et al. A role for immune complexes in enhanced Respiratory Syncytial Virus disease. J Exp Med. 2002 Sep 16;196(6):859-65. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020781.

PrabhuDas M, Adkins B, Gans H, et al. 2011. Challenges in infant immunity: implications for responses to infection and vaccines. Nature Immunology, 12(3), 189–194. doi: 10.1038/ni0311-189.

Prasad N, Walker TA, Waite B, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus-associated hospitalizations among adults with chronic medical conditions. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;73(1):e158-e163.

Randolph AG and Wang EL, 1996, Ribavirin for Respiratory Syncytial Virus Lower Respiratory 929 Tract Infection, Arch of Pediatr Adolesc Med, 150(9):942–947.

Regan AK, Klein NP, Langley G, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus hospitalization during pregnancy in 4 high-income countries, 2010-2016. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(12):1915–1918. CrossRef. Medline doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy439.

Riccò M, Ferraro P, Corrado S, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus in pregnant women: systematic review and meta-analysis. Women. 2022; 2(2):147-160. doi: 10.3390/women2020016.

Schneider-Ohrum K, Cayatte C, Bennett AS, Rajani GM, McTamney P, Nacel K, Hostetler L, Cheng L, Ren K, O'Day T, Prince GA, McCarthy MP. Immunization with Low Doses of Recombinant Postfusion or Prefusion Respiratory Syncytial Virus F Primes for Vaccine-Enhanced Disease in the Cotton Rat Model Independently of the Presence of a Th1-Biasing (GLA-SE) or Th2-Biasing (Alum) Adjuvant. J Virol. 2017 Mar 29;91(8):e02180-16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02180-16. PMID: 28148790; PMCID: PMC5375676.

Sejvar, J. J., Baughman, A. L., Wise, M., & Morgan, O. W. (2011). Population incidence of Guillain-Barré syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuroepidemiology, 36(2), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1159/000324710 Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL, et al.; RSV Global Epidemiology Network. Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. Lancet. 2017 Sep 2;390(10098):946-958. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30938-8. Epub 2017 Jul 7. PMID: 28689664; PMCID: PMC5592248.

Suh M, Movva N, Jiang X, et al. Respiratory Syncytial Virus Is the Leading Cause of United States Infant Hospitalizations, 2009-2019: A Study of the National (Nationwide) Inpatient Sample. J Infect Dis. 2022 Aug 15;226(Suppl 2):S154-S163. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiac120. PMID: 35968878; PMCID: PMC9377046.

Sullender WM. Respiratory syncytial virus genetic and antigenic diversity. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2000 Jan;13(1):1-15, table of contents. doi: 10.1128/CMR.13.1.1. PMID: 10627488; PMCID: PMC88930.

Taber LH, Knight V, Gilbert BE, McClung HW, Wilson SZ, Norton HJ, Thurson JM, Gordon WH, Atmar RL, and Schlaudt WR, 1983, Ribavirin Aerosol Treatment of Bronchiolitis Associated With Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection in Infants, Pediatrics, 72(5):613–618.

Taylor G. Animal models of respiratory syncytial virus infection. Vaccine. 2017 Jan 11;35(3):469-480. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.11.054. Epub 2016 Nov 29. PMID: 27908639; PMCID: PMC5244256.

Waaijenborg S, Hahne SJ, Mollema L, et al. Waning of maternal antibodies against measles, mumps, rubella, and varicella in communities with contrasting vaccination coverage. J Infect Dis 2013;208:10-6.

World Health Organization (WHO) Expert Committee on Biological Standardization: fifty-fourth report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005: Annex 1, WHO Technical Report Series, No. 927, 2005. WHO guidelines on nonclinical evaluation of vaccines. Accessed 11/25/2024. https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/biologicals/annex1nonclinical.p31-63.pdf?sfvrsn=d11d7789\_3&download=true

World Health Organization (WHO) Guideline on the quality, safety and efficacy of respiratory syncytial virus vaccines, Annex 2, TRS No 1024, 2020. Accessed 11/25/2024. https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/respiratory-syncytial-virus-vaccines-annex-2-trs-no-1024

World Health Organization (WHO), 2022, Preterm Birth Fact Sheet, accessed April 14, 2022, https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/preterm-birth

Wright PF, Karron RA, Belshe RB, Shi JR, Randolph VB, Collins PL, O'Shea AF, Gruber WC, Murphy BR. The absence of enhanced disease with wild type respiratory syncytial virus infection occurring after receipt of live, attenuated, respiratory syncytial virus vaccines. Vaccine. 2007 Oct 16;25(42):7372-8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.08.014. Epub 2007 Aug 28. PMID: 17868959; PMCID: PMC2760483.

Yen C, Wei K, Wang W, Huang Y, Chang Y. Risk of Guillain-Barré Syndrome Among Older Adults Receiving Influenza Vaccine in Taiwan. JAMA Netw Open. 2022;5(9):e2232571. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.32571

Zar HJ, Piccolis M, Terstappen J, Mazur NI, Gaayeb L, Morin S, Bont L. Access to highly effective longacting RSV-monoclonal antibodies for children in LMICs-reducing global inequity. Lancet Glob Health. 2024 Oct;12(10):e1582-e1583. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(24)00258-4. Epub 2024 Jul 24. PMID: 39067468.

#### 10. Appendix 1

Enrolled participants at time of study pause Part A: Participants 8 months to <24 months *Cohorts 1 and 2* 

• 29 participants received 3 doses of 30 µg mRNA-1345

- 30 participants received 3 doses of 30 µg mRNA-1365
- 31 participants received placebo

Part B: Participants 5 months to <8 months

#### Cohorts 3 and 4

- 20 participants received 2 doses of 15 µg mRNA-1345
- 20 participants received 2 doses of 15 µg mRNA-1365
- 20 participants received 2 doses of placebo
- Part B: Participants 5 months to <8 months

Cohorts 5 and 6

- 7 participants received 1 dose of 30 µg mRNA-1345
- 7 participants received 1 dose of 30 µg mRNA-1365
- 7 participants received 1 dose of placebo
- Part C: Participants 8 to <12 months who received 1 dose of 30 µg mRNA-1345 Cohorts 7 and 8
  - 9 participants previously exposed to nirsevimab
  - 6 participants not previously exposed to nirsevimab

#### 11. Appendix 2

#### Table 8. Case Definitions

Terminology	Definition
RSV-RTI	Runny nose OR blocked nose OR cough
or	AND
hMPV-RTI	Confirmed RSV or hMPV infection <sup>a</sup>
RSV LRTI	Cough OR difficulty breathing <sup>b</sup> AND
or hMPV-LRTI	SpO₂ <95% <sup>c</sup> OR RR increase <sup>d</sup> AND
	Confirmed RSV or hMPV infection <sup>a</sup>
Clinically Significant (CS)-Severe/Very Severe RSV LRTI <sup>a</sup>	Includes all Case Definitions included below
RSV severe LRTI or	Meeting the case definition or RSV LRTI or hMPV-LRTI AND
hMPV severe LRTI	SpO <sub>2</sub> <93% <sup>c</sup> OR lower chest wall in-drawing <sup>e</sup>
RSV very severe LRTI or	Meeting the case definition or RSV LRTI or hMPV-LRTI AND
hMPV very severe LRTI	SpO <sub>2</sub> <90% <sup>c</sup> OR inability to feed <sup>e</sup> OR failure to respond/unconscious <sup>e</sup>
RSV hospitalization or	Confirmed RSV or hMPV infection <sup>f</sup> AND
hMPV hospitalization	Hospitalized for acute medical condition <sup>g</sup>

Abbreviations: hMPV=human metapneumovirus; LAR=legally authorized representative; LRTI=lower respiratory tract illness; RR=respiration rate; RSV=respiratory syncytial virus; RTI-respiratory tract infection; RT-PCR=reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction; SpO2=blood oxygen saturation

a. RSV or hMPV infection confirmed on nasal swab positive by RT-PCR. However, in the event that RT-PCR testing is not available (i.e., hospitalization), positive restult in a locally available diagnostic test of RSV or hMPV infection will be accepted

b. based on history reported by parents/LARs and includes difficulty breathing (e.g., showing signs of wheezing or stridor, tachypnea, flaring [of nostrils], chest in-drawing, apnea) associated with nasal obstruciton

c. for SpO2, the lowest stable value monitored will be used

d. RR increase defined as ≥50 braths/minute (5 to <12 months of age), >40 breaths/minute (12 to 24 months of age), >34 breaths/minute (over 24 months of age)

e. lower chest wall in-drawing, inability to feed, and failure to respond/unconcous based on physician assessment

f. RSV and hMPV sampling and testing is based on medical judgement of medical practitioner or driven by algorithm g. hospitalization is defined as a medical decision in which the participant requires overnight admission for observation or treatment Note: definitions based on (Modjarrad, 2016). If a coinfection of RSV and hMPV is present as determined by PCR, these case definitions will be counted for both incidences of infection.